

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2021

Nonusable Enterprise Systems and Productivity and Well-Being of Canadian Automobile Dealership Accountants

Manuel Felicio Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Manuel Felicio

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Michael Neubert, Committee Chairperson, Management Faculty Dr. Dale Mancini, Committee Member, Management Faculty Dr. David Gould, University Reviewer, Management Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2021

Abstract

Nonusable Enterprise Systems and Productivity and Well-Being of Canadian Automobile

Dealership Accountants

by

Manuel Felicio

MA, University of the Philippines – Visayas, 1997

BS, University of San-Jose Recoletos, 1984

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Management

Walden University

July 2021

Abstract

Enterprise system software is adapted by organizations to automate business processes. However, adaptation failures ranging from 50% to 90% make an enterprise system nonusable, costing millions of dollars to companies. The problem was the systemic barrier hindering productivity, which impels a phenomenological study to explore on what are the lived experiences of Canadian automotive dealership accountants related to their productivity and well-being when the enterprise system is nonusable. The research question asked, what are the lived experiences of Canadian automotive dealership accountants related to their productivity and well-being when the ES is nonusable. The conceptual framework for this research was a synthesis of the philosophy of utilitarian accounts of Griffin, the job demand-resource theory of Bakker and Demerouti, and change management applied to enterprise system adaptation. Data were collected via interviews and analyzed via a modified Stevick–Colaizzi–Keen data analysis technique. Findings indicated that enterprise system nonusability affects the productivity and wellbeing of automotive dealership accountants in carrying out their tasks to fulfill their deliverables. Six major themes were identified: enterprise system support, job demands for accountants, the importance of training, limited features/providers slow to improve, setup and configuration, and a proactive approach. Implications for positive social change include adding more emphasis on the human aspects of enterprise system adaptation for productivity and promotion of health and well-being among users to benefit employers, employees, customers, and the community.

Nonusable Enterprise Systems and Productivity and Well-Being of Canadian Automobile

Dealership Accountants

by

Manuel Felicio

MA, University of the Philippines – Visayas, 1997

BS, University of San-Jose Recoletos, 1984

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Management

Walden University

July 2021

Dedication

I dedicate my work to my wife, Adora, and my children, Josemaria, Trisha Carmen, Kristina Pilar, and Jose Gabriel, who have patiently stood by me and provided endless love and support throughout my doctoral journey. Thank you for all your help and understanding. I also dedicate this journey and work to my late parents. Although they lack the material means, they supported me spiritually throughout my life, which was my inspiration to obtain the highest level of education possible for me.

I also dedicate this work and journey, above all, to God the Father, who is the source of all fatherhood and sacredness of freedom; God the Son, on my inspiration to contribute an impact to positive social change; God the Holy Spirit, the source of all knowledge and intelligence, inspiring us always to use our God-given intellectual prowess to make the world better and better each day for all humanity, without distinction of colors, belief, culture, language, or race.

Acknowledgments

My profound gratitude to my dissertation committee, chaired by Dr. Michael Neubert, supported by Dr. Dale Mancini, and Dr. David Gould, for their invaluable support, guidance, and insight in the dissertation process. I would especially like to thank Dr. Michael Neubert, my committee chair and mentor, for being with me in every step of the dissertation process. Thank you for your time and for always supporting, presenting, and guiding me throughout the process. Even at the start of the dissertation process, I already felt the touch of an incredible mentor with a sturdy foundation of humility that I could emulate throughout my journey in the union of person, vocation, and profession. Special appreciation also to my committee member, Dr. Dale Mancini, for providing his brilliant insights and comments. I also express my profound gratitude to my university research reviewer, Dr. David Gould, for his critics, comments, and suggestions necessary to achieve the needed quality of this paper. And most especially, in the knowledge that served as my foundation in dissecting theories, models, and concepts from a video clip I watched in one of my first courses, The Gateway to Doctoral Studies when he explained what is needed to triumph in the doctoral journey.

I would like to thank all my friends, family members, and colleagues who, in one way or another, have helped me throughout my doctoral journey. My gratitude also goes to student aid Alberta for the financial support that helped me through a student loan for my studies. All these supports were integral to my success.

List of Tables vi
List of Figures vii
Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study1
Background of the Study2
Problem Statement4
Purpose of the Study
Research Question5
Conceptual Framework
Nature of the Study
Definitions9
Assumptions11
Scope and Delimitations
Limitations14
Significance of the Study15
Significance to Practice15
Significance to Theory16
Significance to Social Change16
Summary and Transition17
Chapter 2: Literature Review
Literature Search Strategy21
Conceptual Framework

Table of Contents

Utilitarian Accounts	23
Job Demand-Resource	24
Change Management and Enterprise System Adaptation	24
Literature Review	25
The Value of an Enterprise System for Business Organization	26
The Role of Users to Gain the Value of an ES in Organization	28
Change Management in the Adaptation of an ES	30
Resistance and Acceptance to Change	31
ES Usability	34
The ES in the Automotive Dealership	38
The Automotive Dealerships Accountants and ES Nonusability	39
Job Demand and Work Resource	41
Productivity and Well-Being of Accountants in Automotive Dealership	43
Summary and Conclusions	46
Chapter 3: Research Method	48
Research Design and Rationale	48
Role of the Researcher	51
Methodology	52
Participant Selection Logic	52
Instrumentation	54
Pilot Study	55
Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection	55

Data Analysis Plan	. 57
Addressing the Research Question	. 58
Analytical Approach	. 59
Coding Procedure	. 61
Software Tool	. 61
Treatment of Discrepant Cases	. 62
Issues of Trustworthiness	62
Credibility	. 62
Transferability	. 63
Dependability	. 64
Confirmability	. 65
Ethical Procedures	. 65
Summary	66
Chapter 4: Results	68
Pilot Study	69
Setting	70
Demographics	71
Data Collection	73
Initial Contact	. 74
Getting Participants Narrative Experiences	. 74
Reflective Field Notes and Journaling	. 75
Member Checking	. 75

Data Analysis	76
The Epoché Approach	76
Coding Process	77
Discrepant Case	79
Evidence of Trustworthiness	80
Credibility	80
Transferability	81
Dependability	81
Confirmability	81
Results	82
Theme 1: ES/DMS Support	84
Theme 2: Job Demand for Accountants	87
Theme 3: Importance of Training	89
Theme 4: Limited Features / Providers Slow to Improve	
Theme 5: Setup and Configuration	
Theme 6: Proactive Approach	
Summary	92
Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations	94
Interpretation of Findings	94
Link of Findings Conceptual Framework, and Theories	
Limitations of the Study	105
Recommendations	107

Implications110
Institutional Implications110
The Implication to Management Practice
Policy Implications
Theoretical Implications112
Implications for Positive Social Change113
Conclusions114
References116
Appendix A: Initial Study Announcement
Appendix B: Official Participation Consent in the Research Study
Appendix C: Data Gathering
Appendix D: IRB Approval to use Email as Additional Data Gathering Procedure140
Appendix E: Excerpt of the Initial IRB Approval141

List of Tables

Table 1. Demographics of Research Participants	72
Table 2. Final Themes and Textual Elements	80
Table 3. Final Themes with Unique Participants and related Frequencies	82

List of Figures

Figure 1. Task Execution - Delivery Fulfillment (TE-DF)
Figure 2. Literature Review Structure
Figure 3. Literature Review Strategy
Figure 4. Automotive Dealerships Information Processing as Pushed to the Accounting
Department
Figure 5. The Modified of Stevick-Colaizzi-Keen (SCK)
Figure 6. Theme Perception of Significance in the Participants Experiences
Figure 7. The Link from the Conceptual Framework to the Themes
Figure 8. Job Demand Map of Accountants

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

Modern business organizations are facing serious challenges in staying competitive in the current digital era (Chou, 2018; Mahmood et al., 2019). These challenges spurred an acute need to align information technology strategies with business operations (Hinkelmann et al., 2016; Kahre et al., 2017). Confronted by these challenges, top management leaders in organizations are adapting an enterprise system (ES) to suit their operation (Chang et al., 2019; Spahn et al., 2018). However, adaptations are beset by a 50% to 90% failure rate (Saxena et al., 2016). This failure outcome hinders productivity (Fitrani et al., 2019; Sadiq & Pirhonen, 2017; Yassien et al., 2017), framing deteriorating workplace well-being that is causing distress and worsening health problems for users (Grīnberga, 2016; Roy et al., 2017).

In this chapter, I present the background of the study, the literature related to the topic of the study, the problem and purpose of the study, the research question, and the concept framing the study. The chapter also includes a diagram depicting the related dimensions framing the conceptual framework of the study. Next is the nature of the study and the operational definitions of key terms and concepts used in the study. This section also includes the assumptions, scope, delimitations, and limitations of the research. This chapter concludes with a discussion of the contributions of this study to management theory and practice and its potential impact on positive social change, followed by a summary and transition.

Background of the Study

Competition and the current rapid business environment have created a need for fast, integrated interdepartmental information processing (Fitrani et al., 2019). This can be achieved through the adaption of an ES (Fitrani et al., 2019; Sadiq & Pirhonen, 2017). The management of an organization can select from many various ESs, such as enterprise resource planning (ERP), customer relations management, manufacturing execution system, supply chain management, and other types of application software to serve the specific needs of an organization (Spahn et al., 2018). In the automotive dealership industry, Gurumoorthy (2016) and Limanto et al. (2016) suggested the use of a dealership management system (DMS), which integrates the various departments of a dealership, such as sales, purchases, inventory, service, accounting, and reporting.

Selecting the specific package from among various ESs suited for an operation requires the management of an organization to assess critical factors for success (Loonam et al., 2018). Choosing appropriate strategies is daunting for business leaders facing the complexities of technological disruption (Kuratko & Morris, 2018). Enterprise system adaptation faces a failure rate of 50% to 90% (Saxena et al., 2016). Saxena et al. (2016) indicated that the concept of failure is complex, but system nonusability is one of the types of failure in which a system cannot be used as intended, costing companies millions of dollars and hindering the productivity of the users (Fitrani et al., 2019; Sadiq & Pirhonen, 2017; Yassien et al., 2017).

While systems implementations and adaptations are affecting the lives of the users (Bailey & Seymour, 2017; Laumer et al., 2016), system nonusability can also cause

distress and health issues for users (Grīnberga, 2016). System nonusability can also lead to employees being unproductive (Fitrani et al., 2019; Sadiq & Pirhonen, 2017; Yassien et al., 2017), adding to the high cost of adaptation. This phenomenon could be a heavy burden to accountants facing rigorous demands in executing their tasks (Del Pozo-Antúnez et al., 2018).

In the past 20 years, many researchers have explored the factors of success and the causes of failures in implementing or adapting an ES, but none has investigated the comprehensive view of human factors (Jenko & Roblek, 2016). In many instances, the factors of success and failure can be attributed to the roles and responsibilities of the experts and consultants (Davison et al., 2018). While Liere-Netheler et al. (2017) studied the well-being related to job satisfaction at an engineering workplace, no studies have been conducted in automotive dealership enterprises. Considering the high demand for a timely and efficient job from accountants (Del Pozo-Antúnez et al., 2018), the phenomenon of ES nonusability could hinder productivity, causing stress and health issues for accountants in automotive dealerships.

In addressing this problem with data from the lived experiences of Canadian automotive dealership accountants, the findings of the study could provide management practitioners with useful insights to improve the process of ES adaptation. Moreover, the outcome could also provide management scholars with a baseline study for more studies on system adaptation related to the productivity and well-being of system users. The results of this study may contribute to positive social change by providing additional insight for both scholars and practitioners regarding the improvement of life and work balance for employees who can avoid health issues due to ES nonusability (Grīnberga, 2016). As well-being begets happiness, this is also in line with arguments that happy employees are productive workers (Joo & Lee, 2017; Nielsen et al., 2017). The well-being of a workplace reverberates through the healthy social engagements of the workers (Huang et al., 2016).

Problem Statement

To achieve a competitive advantage in the market, a business organization should adopt an ES (Fitrani et al., 2019; Sadiq & Pirhonen, 2017). However, ES adaptation is beset by a failure rate ranging from 50% to 90% (Saxena et al., 2016), costing companies millions of dollars (Sadiq & Pirhonen, 2017) and significantly affecting the lives of users (Bailey & Seymour, 2017; Laumer et al., 2016). The social problem was the deteriorating workplace well-being, distress, and worsening health problems from stress suffered by users due to ES nonusability (Grīnberga, 2016). The specific problem was the systemic barrier hindering productivity due to ES nonusability (Fitrani et al., 2019; Sadiq & Pirhonen, 2017; Yassien et al., 2017).

Several studies revealed the successes and failures of ESs (Jenko & Roblek, 2016; Loonam et al., 2018), which affect users' well-being (Grīnberga, 2016), highlighting the responsibilities of the experts and the necessity to train users (Davison et al., 2018). However, there has been no comprehensive analysis of the human factors (Jenko & Roblek, 2016). Liere-Netheler et al. (2017) explored job satisfaction among users of an ES in engineering workplaces, and Bailey and Seymour (2017) studied the ES and its effect on users in sub-Saharan Africa, but there has been no such study of the automotive retail industry, nor has there been a study focused on automotive dealership accountants, who are subject to rigors of high job demands (Del Pozo-Antúnez et al., 2018).

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this qualitative phenomenological study was to explore and describe the lived experiences of productivity and well-being among Canadian automotive dealership accountants when a failure occurs, causing ES nonusability (Fitrani et al., 2019; Saxena et al., 2016). In the stories of their lived experiences, the philosophical underpinning of transcendental phenomenology, as introduced by Husserl (1931), was used. This approach provided the epistemological light that adds more meaningful dimensions to the study (Moustakas, 1994). Moreover, transcendental phenomenology is vital to infer the ontological insights on the impact of ES nonusability on the lives of accountants in automotive dealerships in Canada. To gather the needed information through an open-ended questionnaire, 12 participants were selected, with a plan to increase the number of participants as needed to achieve data saturation.

Research Question

What are the lived experiences of Canadian automotive dealership accountants related to their productivity and well-being when the ES is nonusable?

Figure 1

Task Execution–Delivery Fulfillment (TE-DF)



Conceptual Framework

This study was framed by the philosophy of the utilitarian accounts as suggested in Griffin (1988), intertwined with the job demand–resource (JD-R) theory updated in Bakker and Demrouti (2018). These two concepts were further synthesized into the change management theory as applied to ES adaptation (Altamony et al., 2016). The synthesis of this multidisciplinary knowledge followed the suggestion in Marshall and Rossman (2016) that a conceptual framework could be coming from either existing concepts, theories, and models or self-developed from intertwining concepts. The interlinking of these bodies of knowledge created the emphasis of understanding for the phenomenon instead of predicting the outcome of the study (Jabareen, 2009).

To explore the lived experiences of Canadian automotive dealership accountants related to their productivity and well-being when their ES is nonusable, the philosophy of the utilitarian accounts in Griffin (1988), JD-R theory (Bakker & Demerouti, 2018), and change management as applied in the ES adaptation as suggested in Altamony et al. (2016) were synthesized into the task execution-delivery fulfillment (TE-DF) framework, as depicted in Figure 1. The interlinking of productivity and well-being, as expounded in Miller (2016), interconnected with the desired productivity from the utility or usability of an ES, begets a pleasure in the absence of pain, which is the achievement of the desired well-being of the users (Griffin, 1986). Then, the JD-R theory in Bakker and Demerouti (2018) is added into the mix to capture the experiences of the participants around their job demand, considering an ES as a workplace resource needed to execute work tasks and the fulfillment of deliverables. At the bottom of the model is the change management discipline as the foundation, following the suggestion in Altamony et al. (2016) of the role of change management in the adaptation of an ES. The synthesized TE–DF framework was used to explore the productivity and workplace well-being experiences of accountants in automotive dealerships in Canada when the ES is nonusable. The details of this synthesized conceptual framework are thoroughly discussed in Chapter 2.

Nature of the Study

The qualitative method was used in this research. The categorization of the lived experiences of accountants in Canadian automotive dealerships was done to discover the meaning of their situation or the phenomena they are experiencing in their ESs adaptation and nonusability through interpretive techniques (Rahman, 2017). This methodology is in line with the suggestion of Maxwell (2012) that qualitative research is well suited to describe and interpret phenomena from the views and lived experiences of the participants.

The qualitative phenomenological approaches, as evident in the social sciences, also include transcendental and hermeneutic phenomenology, which is useful to reveal the essence of things in the phenomenon (Katsirikou & Lin, 2017). Additionally, as indicated in Husserl (1931), the transcendental phenomenological approach is useful to identify participants' experiences, hermeneutically interpreting them intentionally outside of any researcher bias within the epoche approach (Moustakas, 1994). Transcendental phenomenology brought added dimensions of the lived experiences of automotive dealership accountants (Sheehan, 2014), which were carried out as a science of pure possibilities with systematic concreteness, that precedes and make possible the empirical sciences of actualities (Moustakas, 1994), with the possibility of inferring knowledge hidden only in the lived experiences of the participants.

As I am immersed in the phenomenon, to exercise the transcendental epoché as suggested in Moustakas (1994), I maintained strong consideration of reflexivity throughout the study process (Burkholder et al., 2016; Mauthner & Doucet, 2003).

Moustakas (1994) suggested that a modified version of the Stevick-Colaizzi-Keen method could be used to analyze phenomenological data. The steps of the Stevick-Colaizzi-Keen method consist of (a) epoché/bracketing, (b) transcendental reduction, (c) imaginative variation, (d) description synthesis, (e) repeat process until saturation, and (f) description combination. These detailed steps facilitated the exploration of the perceptions of the Canadian automotive dealership accountant participants' experiences when their ES was nonusable. The detailed modified Stevick-Colaizzi-Keen phenomenological data analysis method (Moustakas, 1994) is described in Chapter 3.

In gathering data, purposeful sampling was appropriate for this qualitative study (Patton, 2006; Suri, 2011). In the process, the open-ended questionnaire portal link was sent to targeted participants via email. When necessary and possible, individual interviews were also conducted via telephone, WhatsApp, Skype, Zoom, Facebook Messenger, or any social media platform available to the participants. The open-ended questionnaire gathered data from the lived experiences of at least 12 participants or until data saturation was achieved. The corresponding data analysis was done with the aid of MaxQDA Analytics Pro 2020 qualitative research software for enhanced interpretation, providing the basis for the reporting of the outcomes of the study.

Definitions

Adaptation: Used synonymously with *implementation*, which is the process of introducing an ES into an organization that requires changes in the organizational processes and practices (Chang et al., 2019; Comuzzi & Parhizkar, 2017).

Controller: An accountant, the head of the accounting department of any organization (Goretzki et al., 2018); the position occupies the highest accountability of timely and accurate reporting for financial information. Controllers are supported by other staff accountants or clerks handling accounting functions such as accounts receivable, accounts payable, cash accounting, inventories, and general ledger accounts reconciliation that captures all the day-to-day business transactions.

Dealership: Also known as an *automotive dealership* that sells cars or automotive and locomotive vehicles. These businesses use ESs to automate their business processes (Gurumoorthy, 2016). This type of business ranges from small to large billion-dollar businesses, also known as *car distribution franchise dealers* (Crane, 2017).

Dealership management system (DMS): An ES designed and focused on the operation of an automotive dealership (Gurumoorthy, 2016).

DMS Providers: Developers or owners of the DMS, an ES used by dealerships.

Enterprise systems (ESs): "Large-scale application software packages supporting business processes and decision making in organizations" (Comuzzi & Parhizkar, 2017, p. 2241). ESs are comprehensive, configurable, and integrated suites of systems that support end-to-end business processes (Feldman et al., 2017; Hassan & Mouakket, 2016). As suggested by Spahn et al. (2018), ESs include but are not limited to ERP, customer relations management, manufacturing execution system, and supply chain management. These also include DMSs used by automotive dealership enterprises to automate their business processes (Gurumoorthy, 2016). *Failure*: A situation when the ES is nonusable, mostly resulting from implementation and adaptation failure, including glitches and software design flaws (Saxena et al., 2016). When the ES is nonusable, it hinders work productivity (Fitrani et al., 2019; Sadiq & Pirhonen, 2017; Yassien et al., 2017).

Module: An ES module is a specific component in the system that processes certain functions, like the accounting module for accountants (Hassan & Mouakket, 2016); modules affect organizational performance (Madapusi, 2019).

Nonusability: A situation in which the ES does not function as intended (Fitrani et al., 2019). This is interchangeably used in this study with *ES nonusability*, in which the system users cannot use the system to execute tasks and produce deliverables.

System users or *users*: Employees using the ES to execute tasks and fulfill deliverables (Costa et al., 2016; Spahn et al., 2018). This includes the accountants using the accounting and related modules or segments of the system (Del Pozo-Antúnez et al., 2018).

Assumptions

Assumptions serve as the basis on which a research project is started (Leedy & Ormrod, 2015). The assumptions in this study were taken from my own experiences in supporting ESs, commonly called DMS, for automotive dealerships serving the North American market. There have been numerous system failures in which accountants were complaining, sick, or even left their job. This observation led to assumptions that spurred me to conduct this study. Leedy and Ormrod (2015) suggested that without assumptions,

a research study would be pointless. Therefore, it is the pointing device that will make me informed of the bits and pieces of information that I do not know.

Additional assumptions about the study included the following:

- Stakeholders, like the dealer principal or owners of the dealership, would collaborate during ES implementation to ensure a seamless process, as new applications require additional sacrifice and devotion from every member of the team.
- Survey participants would be willing to provide honest and complete responses to provide their exact lived experiences related to workplace well-being and productivity when system nonusability occurs.
- The transcendental phenomenological qualitative approach would be the best approach to extract the lived experiences of respondents.
- Future researchers who replicate the study in a similar context and a similar environment may arrive at a similar outcome; nonetheless, qualitative studies are rarely generalizable or transferable.

Scope and Delimitations

Scope and delimitations frame the group that a study could be applicable (Burkholder et al., 2016). The scope of the study refers to the parameter of the research, and delimitations define the boundaries of the study (Simon & Goes, 2013). In a transcendental phenomenological study, the parameters provide boundaries and focus on the relevant inferences from the experiences of the target participants (Moustakas, 1994). The fence in the framed boundary is the productivity and well-being of users in dealing with their job demands affected by the condition of their ES usability. This is on top of the change management strategies in adapting an ES by automotive dealership enterprises, hovering around the ES adaptation outcome of nonusability due to system failure. These parameters and boundaries are also shown in Figure 1. In this framed blueprint, I specifically selected automotive dealership accountants in the Western Canadian provinces of Alberta and British Columbia. Dealerships in other Canadian provinces were not included to limit only those that are within the proximity of my location.

The transcendental phenomenology was best suited within the chosen framework to infer data from the lived experiences of the participants. The philosophical underpinning of transcendental phenomenology provides a lens to gaze at both the abstract appearance of the object and the object as experienced by the participants, including how the participants experienced the object (Moustakas 1994). The approaches inferred from the philosophy behind transcendental phenomenology provide the light to see the object, on what is perceived on both the appearance of the object and the object itself from various angles, in various types of experiences, and the orientation of the wishing, willing, or judging by the participants (Moustakas, 1994). The transcendental phenomenological approach encourages participants to be aware of their consciousness, making it the medium to access participant experiences (Giorgi, 2014). In this connection, the methodology might enable the acquisition of data from the lived experiences of the participants. The approaches were in parallel with the suggestion of Burkholder et al. (2016) that methods, methodology, and design of the study, when carried out in a similar environment, could produce a similar outcome, manifesting the transferability of the study. The details of the transferability of this study are discussed further in Chapter 3.

Limitations

Limitations are inherent to the flow of methodology and the design choices of a study (Simon & Goes, 2013). This takes the dimensions of the role of the researcher (Badu et al., 2019), which are the constraints beyond the control of the researcher that could affect the study (Simon & Goes, 2013). Therefore, limitations should encourage more thoughtful planning before the start of the fieldwork.

Several limitations were identified in this study, such as the scope, the limited time needed for the participants during the individual interview due to their busy schedules. Another limitation was the fact that the study was focused on dealership accountants in the Western Canadian provinces of Alberta and British Columbia; this boundary precludes data from other provinces that might have varied due to slight differences in culture and perception. The focus on participants who were accountants at automotive dealerships could also be another limitation of this study.

Furthermore, my exposure in the industry as the controller of a dealership may have influenced my potential bias in the conduct of the study. However, the epoché approach in transcendental phenomenology (Moustakas, 1994; Sheehan, 2014) allowed me to put aside my own experience to infer quality data from the selected participants without the influence of my bias. These limitations and their corresponding mitigation are covered in detail in Chapter 3.

Significance of the Study

This research study was unique in its place in the body of knowledge. Jenko and Roblek (2016) suggested that among studies conducted around ESs and adaptation, various areas have not been explored, especially those related to the human dimensions in the phenomenon of ESs project successes and failures. Bailey and Seymour (2017) studied the well-being of users during ES implementation, and Liere-Netheler et al. (2017) studied job satisfaction in an engineering firm, but there has been no similar study conducted in automotive dealerships. This research can help fill this gap of knowledge, and the outcomes could provide significance to change management practice in automotive dealerships and theory useful for further study. This possible knowledge contribution in promoting well-being at the workplace through the selection, design, and implementation of an ES may contribute to positive social change.

Significance to Practice

Workplace well-being occupies a critical gap in management research (Joo & Lee, 2017). In this context, this study has the potential to unearth additional insights into employee workplace well-being in implementing, enhancing, and ensuring new ESs and their usability for productivity. Employee well-being is essential in the workplace (Thompson & Livingston, 2018), and the outcome of the study could potentially highlight some human resource dimensions in the change management discipline, potentially needed in the selection, adaptation, design, and adaptation of ESs. These could provide

more insights for change management practitioners in their strategic approaches in the selection, adaptation, design, and implementation of an ES.

Significance to Theory

The implementation and adaptation of an ES is part of the change management discipline (Simatupang et al., 2016). Change management has a vital role to play in the success and failure of ES adaptation (Altamony et al., 2016). With the focus of the productivity and well-being taken from the utilitarian accounts' philosophy in Griffin (1988), synthesized into JD-R theory in Bakker and Demerouti (2018), together with the continuous change in ES adaptation (Comuzzi & Parhizkar, 2017), the synthesis inferred the task execution-deliverable fulfillment (TE-DF) that relates to system users' job demands and resource use. Through the TE-DF framework, I inferred information from the lived experiences of the participants of the occurrence of system nonusability and their eagerness to deliver their executables promptly and efficiently. At the outset, the outcome of the study had conceptualized a baseline knowledge on a potential addition to the job demand—resource theory, extending the JD-R theory of Bakker and Demerouti (2018) with the utilitarian philosophy of Griffin (1988) as the job demand--resource utility (JD-RU) theory. The JD-RU theory has the potential for further study that concerns JD-RU related to ES change management, with deeper consideration of human factors in productivity to promote user well-being.

Significance to Social Change

The topic of well-being across human services is receiving increasing attention (Thompson & Livingston, 2018). Unhappiness at work affects the personal lives of

workers (Joo & Lee, 2017). Maccagnan et al. (2019) suggested that employees' lives at work also affect society. In this context, and with the corresponding moral implications of well-being (Griffin, 1986), the outcomes of this study could provide insights to improve the lives of ES users, which could create a significant contribution to positive social change, benefiting ES users, business leaders, customers, the society.

Summary and Transition

The phenomenon of ES nonusability, which is hindering productivity (Fitrani et al., 2019; Sadiq & Pirhonen, 2017; Yassien et al., 2017), ignited a social problem of deteriorating workplace well-being, triggering distress and health problem among employees (Grīnberga, 2016; Roy et al., 2017). Accountants are eager to deliver their tasks in a timely and efficient manner (Griffin, 1988), and their eagerness is inherent to the rigor of their job demands (Del Pozo-Antúnez et al., 2018). However, when accountants' tools or systems are nonusable, they become unproductive (Fitrani et al., 2019).

This study potentially contributed to reducing the gap in knowledge about the phenomenon of ES nonusability based on the lived experiences of productivity and wellbeing from accountants in Canadian automotive dealership workplaces. In this chapter, I presented the purpose of the study, the research question, and the conceptual framework that would guide the study. The synthesized TE-DF conceptual framework is shown in Figure 1 as well. I also presented the nature of the study with the rationale of using a transcendental phenomenological qualitative study. Next, I presented the assumptions, the scope and delimitations of the study, the significance of the study to theory and practice, and potential contributions to positive social change.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

The purpose of this qualitative phenomenological study was to explore and describe the lived experiences of productivity and well-being among Canadian automotive dealership accountants when a failure occurs, causing ES nonusability. A literature review synthesizes critical essays on relevant and current knowledge from published literature related to a study (Burkholder et al., 2016). Additionally, Randolph (2009) suggested that a literature review paves the way in identifying what has been done, seeking new lines of inquiries, gaining a new perspective, establishing the context of the topic or problem of the study, and providing a path toward achieving the purpose of the study. In this section, I present a literature review of the key issues and challenges in the adaptation of an ES, which is beset by a failure rate of 50% to 90% (Saxena et al., 2016), resulting in system nonusability, which spurs a systemic barrier hindering the productivity of system users (Fitrani et al., 2019; Sadiq & Pirhonen, 2017; Yassien et al., 2017). This phenomenon can cause stress and health issues affecting the well-being of employees using the system to execute tasks and produce deliverables (Grinberga, 2016). To gather the literature surrounding this phenomenon, I established a research approach to congruent data collection, which is presented in the literature review structure in Figure 2. Approaches used by researchers and their findings are significant to the purpose of this study.

Figure 2

Literature Review Structure



In this chapter, I begin with a discussion of the strategies used to locate studies and research papers. Then, to support a clear and concise argument, I follow the structural interconnectedness of the elements, as indicated in the conceptual framework of this study (Figure 1). These components are translated into the structure shown in Figure 2, which led to the investigation focused on the productivity and well-being experiences of users when system nonusability occurs. The interconnectedness of all the change management activities affecting the success and failure of ES adaptation is also explored to provide the vividness of the logical path leading to ES nonusability, which could be experienced by accountants of automotive dealerships as users of the ES. At the end of this chapter is a closing statement with a summary of the synthesis and major aspects of the literature covered with highlights about the problem and pointing to the gap that may be reduced by the responses to the research question of this study.

Literature Search Strategy

Numerous sources were used in conducting this literature review. The primary source of information was the Walden Library and databases such as EBSCO, Elsevier, Sage, ProQuest, Google Scholar, and many more. The literature search was done through a subject-based approach taken from the conceptual framework of the study. The main keywords used included: *enterprise systems, enterprise systems implementation, enterprise system adaptation, ERP implementation success and failures, enterprise system and productivity, enterprise system user well-being, enterprise system usability, system failure, enterprise system nonusability, enterprise system productivity, and workplace well-being, workplace resource, user job demand, enterprise system in automotive dealership, automotive dealership accounting, enterprise system and job demands of accountants, enterprise system implementation change management, software usability, and software nonusability.* The gathered literature was filtered according to the scope of the study. The materials that passed through the filtering test, as depicted in Figure 3, were included in the review.

As the study is related to information technology, literature from conference proceedings was cited at least five times. One publication from a well-known expert in the automotive dealership market was included, and an online publication from *Market Research Future* about the prospect of an ES was part of the review. As change management is the foundation in the adaptation of an ES, current and germane works on change management were included in the review. Furthermore, current and germane papers on productivity and well-being that relate to organizational change were also included.

Figure 3





Conceptual Framework

The task delivery model (Figure 1) provided the understanding for the alignment of the study components, the rigorous procedure in the conduct of the research, and the data analysis. The elements of this task delivery, such as productivity, well-being, and
task execution, point to deliverable fulfillment, the participant accountants' job demands, which is influenced by their ES usability. These elements are the outcome of the fundamental synthesis of the utilitarian accounts philosophy in Griffin (1988) and the JD-R theory in Bakker and Demerouti (2018). The synthesis is interlinked with productivity and well-being, as suggested by Miller (2016). At the base, change management is placed according to the suggestion in Altamony et al. (2016) that change management is responsible for the success and failures of ES adaptation. The foundational components of the TE-DF framework are expounded in the following section.

Utilitarian Accounts

Utilitarian accounts in Griffin (1988) suggested that productivity in the successful utilization of the tools in production begets pleasure in the absence of pain. Although Griffin (1988) discussed this philosophy in relation to the morality in human life, the foundation of well-being was inferred coming from utility or happiness without pain in using the tools, the utility of things in daily lives. This philosophy connotes that productivity precedes well-being, which is the good life coming from the pleasure of utility. On the other hand, Miller (2016) suggested that organizations that are actively promoting well-being in the workplace will reap the gains of productivity. These concepts, which are pointing directly toward each other, project the inseparability of productivity is hindered, well-being is affected. This component provided a deeper understanding of the participants' lived experience that relates to their productivity and well-being when their ES is nonusable.

Job Demand-Resource

The JD-R model in Bakker and Demrouti (2018) provided the background in fulfilling the demands of the jobs of the participants. This relates to the argument in Del Pozo-Antúnez et al. (2018) that accountants, who are the participants in the study, are subjected to rigorous job demands. Bakker and Demrouti (2018), discussing the multiple levels of JD-R, suggested that the corresponding resource of the job demand could have productive value and provides well-being. This utility of the tools could also result in the opposite direction in times of resource dysfunction that unproductivity affects well-being. This argument also relates to the utilitarian accounts of well-being in Griffin (1988). Nevertheless, Bakker and Demrouti (2018) suggested that users or employees have the potential to influence their working conditions, and the working conditions could also influence the well-being of the employees. This component guided the inference of data from the participants that relate to the productivity and well-being experiences when their ES is nonusable in connection with any initiative they undertook when facing the nonusability of their ES amidst the rigor of their job-demand (Del Pozo-Antúnez et al., 2018).

Change Management and Enterprise System Adaptation

Change management at the base in the graphical presentation of the TE-DF framework served as the foundational discipline responsible for the success or failure in the adaptation of an ES (Altamony et al., 2016). Changes are constant as the organizations need to constantly align their information system with their business strategies (Hinkelmann et al., 2016; Kahre et al., 2017). This entails that leaders of

change, including the ES providers or developers, should consider appropriate change strategies that should ensure that users' productivity and well-being are maintained at all times (Nielsen et al., 2017). Altamony et al. (2016) suggested that change management strategies include user involvement and vendor support. This strategic move will mitigate hindrances to productivity and well-being (Kowalski & Loretto, 2017; Miller, 2016). This component of the framework guided the inference on the experiences of the participants in dealing with their ES nonusability that came from other parties such as the vendors or providers of their ES.

Literature Review

The fast-changing and highly competitive business landscape triggered the increasing adaption of an ES on a global scale (Gollner & Baumane-Vītoliņa, 2016). This phenomenon spurred many studies that contributed to the knowledge of the success and failures of ES adaption (Jenko & Roblek, 2016; Loonam et al., 2018). More often, the responsibilities of the experts are at the forefront of the arguments that relate to the success and failures of ES adaption (Davison et al., 2018). However, the comprehensive analysis of the human factors remained to be explored (Jenko & Roblek, 2016). While job satisfaction in an engineering workplace was studied by (Liere-Netheler et al., 2017), the phenomenon of ES nonusability that hinders productivity in the automotive dealership workplace remains hidden from the inquisitive minds of scholars and practitioners. To address this gap that relates to the productivity and well-being of the accountants in the Canadian automotive dealership in the phenomenon of ES nonusability, the review of the related literature is structured.

The Value of an Enterprise System for Business Organization

An ES is a computer-based information processing system that integrates departmental processes in the organization (Chang et al., 2019; Comuzzi & Parhizkar, 2017; Kamal et al., 2018). The system puts together a large fraction of organizational data processing and task execution, which makes the system more complicated and hard to maintain (Comuzzi & Parhizkar, 2017). When successfully adapted by an organization, it is a powerful means for the competitive advantage of doing business (Mahdavian et al., 2016). Its usability is believed to help reduce cost, enhance productivity, and support management decision-making (Abugabah, 2017; Haddara & Moen, 2017; Motwani & Sharman, 2016). It comes with many variants such as ERP, customer relations management, manufacturing execution system, supply chain management, human resource system (HRS), advanced planning and scheduling, and various in-house customs developed systems (Kunath & Winkler, 2019; Seethamraju & Coyte, 2019; Spahn et al., 2018). They have a variety of modules that integrate departmental functions to be used by organizations and people with the expectation to meet their business needs and operational requirements (Ammar, 2017; Guzmán et al., 2018). For the accountants of any organization, the accounting component or module of an ES is needed for the timeliness of information processing and reporting (Gullberg, 2016). Therefore, the ES's usability is vital for accounting functions (Hassan & Mouakket, 2016). This makes incidents of nonusability hinder their productivity (Fitrani et al., 2019; Sadiq & Pirhonen, 2017; Yassien et al., 2017).

With the potential of an ES to create business value, academia and industry were spurred to explore the phenomena that relate to the ES adaptation (Bhattacharya, 2016). Several studies revealed pictures of the success and failures of ES adaptation (Jenko & Roblek, 2016; Loonam et al., 2018). Nevertheless, despite the adaptation failure rate of 50% to 90% (Saxena et al., 2016), the ES, when properly implemented, can provide many benefits to the organization (Jenko & Roblek, 2016). In this context, the ES market is growing by 7.45% per year, which is expected to have a market size of US\$ 49.03 billion in 2023 (Market Research Future, 2020).

Chang et al. (2019), who studied the ES adaptation in Taiwanese companies, proposed a program approach to improving the chances of success in ES adaptation. The authors suggested that the implementation should ensure the attainment of the overall goals while retaining the specific departmental goals, which will eventually enable a variety of business functions to drive success. In the same line of argument, Kamal et al. (2018), who explored the ES adaptation in the Egyptian garment industry, indicated that when the ES adaptation goals were meet, the value-added to the organization is the increase of the workers' productivity. Furthermore, Asamoah and Andoh-Baidoo (2018), in studying the Sub-Saharan context of ES adaptation, suggested that the value that an ES provides to the organization is the increase in inter-departmental coordination and faster management decision-making process. However, Eichhorn and Tukel (2018), who quantitatively studied the user influence in ES adaptation, suggested that the value of an ES adaptation is dependent on the users' participation

The Role of Users to Gain the Value of an ES in Organization

There is no successful ES adaptation without users (Mahdavian et al., 2016). Ensuring a high probability of success in ES adaptation, there is a need to communicate, train, and support the users (Davison et al., 2018). Although users do not need to know about computer coding, Motwani (2017) argued that they should need to know the operational aspect and the business issues that will be effectively addressed by an ES. This gives them the ability to fully use the software that begets their satisfaction, a determinant factor of the success in ES adaptation (Abu Ghazaleh et al., 2019). This process required that ES providers or vendors should conduct proper training and provide support to maximize the usability of an ES (Almajali et al., 2016; Reitsma & Hilletofth, 2018). This exercise of communicating, training, and supporting users, promotes user satisfaction and avoids system adaptation failure and nonusability (Motwani & Sharman, 2016).

In presenting the quantitative model to measure ES implementation success, Mahdavian et al. (2016) suggested that aside from the financial factors, user satisfaction should be the parameters of success in ES adaptation. This argument is strengthened by the suggestion of Davison et al. (2018), who argued that the system implementation experts should conduct rigorous training and provide strong support to users on how to use the functionalities of the system. Additionally, Motwani (2017) argued that users do not need to know about the details of the system. They should only know the basic operational functionalities. In this context, the users' satisfaction with the system functionalities harmonizes with the argument in Abugabah (2017), who suggested that user satisfaction in the usability of the ES should be the benchmark of a successful ES adaption. This is confirmed in Costa et al. (2016), who suggested that user satisfaction is the most important issue to consider in the ES adaptation.

In the working environment of the accountants, Gullberg (2016) suggested that the usability of the accounting component or module of the ES should meet the expectations of the accountants for the timely and efficient execution of their tasks and produce their deliverables. In this context, Chang et al. (2019) highlighted the achievement of usability expectation as a value of the ES, which comes from the integration of critical business functions for the enhancement of organizational performance. Besides, Abugabah (2017), who quantitatively explored the technical systems factors of ES adaptation, also highlighted cost savings, efficiency, and productivity as part of the overall benefits in a successful adaptation of an ES, Kamal et al. (2018), who conducted a study of ES adaptation in the Egyptian garment factories, suggested productivity as the most important benefit in the adaptation of an ES. Whereas Abugabah (2017) suggested the benefits of the ES adaptation generically yet did not provide the specifics parameters. Similarly, Kamal et al. (2018), though able to touch the new trend on the cloud-based ES, only emphasizes cost savings and real-time information reporting.

On the other side of this argument, Gullberg (2016) suggested the concept of timeliness in accounting and financial reporting also emphasizes an outcome of efficiency, control, and precision from the usefulness of an ES. This is synonymous with the accuracy of information as a value that the ES can provide to the organization when

an ES is successfully adapted. Along this line of argument, Chang et al. (2019), in a quantitative study from selected top 1000 companies in Taiwan, emphasized the importance of local purpose. This local purpose of the users is related to the timely execution of their tasks and accurate data reporting, which contributes to the enhancement of productivity and improved strategic decision-making process as a significant value that an ES can provide to the organization. Nevertheless, as suggested in Saxena et al. (2016), the value of the organization could become a cost when the adaptation is a failure making the system to be nonusable.

Change Management in the Adaptation of an ES

Business organizations are operating in a dynamic business environment, which demands the adaption of an information system for changing business processes and information needs (Spahn et al., 2018). This phenomenon necessitates the need for constant change for a business organization to stay competitive (Altamony et al., 2016). Additionally, there is also a need for quick and intelligent action from organizations to achieve speedy changes in business processes (Fernandes & Fragoso, 2017). This exercise is necessary for the continuous alignment of business and information technology in a rapidly changing business environment (Comuzzi & Parhizkar, 2017; Hinkelmann et al., 2016; Kahre et al., 2017). Nevertheless, these actions need to emphasize the coordination of people relating to any hierarchical power in the organization to achieve a higher degree of user acceptance (Mitra & Mishra, 2016), avoid system nonusability, enhance productivity (Fitrani et al., 2019), and promote well-being for system users (Grīnberga, 2016). In exploring the critical success factors in change management strategies in ES adaptation, Altamony et al. (2016) emphasized the role of change management to ensure avoidance of ES nonusability. The authors reiterated that in preparing for change, a number of factors must be considered without forgetting the information and dissemination of the initiative to the users, which should include the necessary training in using the system. In a similar path exploring the post-implementation aspect of an ES adaption, Comuzzi and Parhizkar (2017) proposed the importance of training to ensure the usability of an ES.

Following the path to explore the critical success factors of ES adaptation, Reitsma and Hilletofth (2018) also found that training is a critical factor to ensure success in ES adaptation. Moreover, the authors also found that continuous support through the adaptation of the system is also a critical aspect of ensuring ES usability. In the same path, Almajali et al. (2016), in studying the ERP users in the Jordanian health care sector, agreed with Reitsma and Hilltofgt (2018) on the importance of training to ensure usability. Additionally, Almajali et al. (2016) proceeded further to suggest the significance of ES support to be provided to the users to promote user satisfaction and mitigate resistance to change.

Resistance and Acceptance to Change

Resistance to change is the usual tendency of the users, especially when they are stressed in the ES adaptation (Laumer et al., 2016). To provide a vivid view of change management activities for a successful adaptation of an ES, Altamony et al. (2016) suggested the importance of top management support for the successful implementation of the ES. This is also supported by (Mitra & Mishra, 2016), who suggested that the people factor in the change management strategy of ES adaptation includes top management support. In parallel to this argument, Pabst et al. (2016) argued that top management support is vital for the success of ES adaptation. However, in exploring the phenomenon with mixed-method research from the users of the ES in Sub-Saharan Africa, Bailey and Seymour (2017) asserted the significant need for fundamental consideration on the needs of the users or employees. This is coming from their findings on the effect of ES implementation on the lives of the users. This argument is also supported by Spahn et al. (2018), who considered the employees, the users of the system, as the center of the change management activities in new software adaptation. In this context, leaders of the change process in the ES adaptation should make sure that users will be able to learn and use the new system without any technical knowledge. This is also in parallel with Motwani (2017) who suggested, that users need not know the bits and bytes of the system but only need to understand the business functionality. Moreover, to curtail user acceptance and promote acceptance, Altamony et al. (2016) also suggested the need for the management initiative to organize users, even before the implementation of an ES should commence. This connects to the suggestion in Haddara and Moen (2017) that user acceptance is paramount to system usability. This also entails the need to motivate users to use the ES to establish the needed learning to gain mastery, which should pave for the usability of the system (Rezvani et al., 2017).

Changes for Productivity and Well-Being

With the need for constant change to keep the alignment of technology and

business needs (Hinkelmann et al., 2016; Kahre et al., 2017) and the speedy changes to stay competitive in the marketplace (Fernandes & Fragoso, 2017), promoting well-being should be aligned with productivity. Work load and job demands affect well-being at the workplace (Nauman et al., 2019). But the usability of workplace resources improved both employee well-being and performance (Nielsen et al., 2017). This is in line with totalitarian philosophy in Griffin (1988) that the use of tools begets happiness in the absence of pain. In the process of constant change for continuous alignment of business and information systems (Comuzzi & Parhizkar, 2017), the appropriate approach of ensuring well-being (Miller, 2016; Thompson & Livingston, 2018) should also emphasize the usability of the adapted ES.

In expounding the need for a continuous alignment of information systems with strategic business objectives Comuzzi and Parhizkar (2017), suggested the continuous change to be followed by an organization. In the same argument, Voehl and Harrington (2017), in expounding the organizational change management (OCM) framework, asserted the need for thorough planning and implementation of change, which should involve not just the business standpoint but most especially the needs of the employees who are the users of the system. When this planning and implementation is done effectively, Attaran et al. (2019), in studying workforce productivity in the information age, found the compelling results of productivity improvement when the ES is successfully adapted usefully. However, when the adaptation is a failure, Fitrani et al. (2019), from the outcome of their study on exploring the system quality measurement, asserted that the system becomes non-usable, making the users unable to execute their

task and unable to fulfill their deliverables. This phenomenon, as suggested in Laumer et al. (2016), triggers stress to the users due to the inability to respond adequately to their job demands.

While the adaptation process affects the lives of the users (Andrianto, 2019; Bailey & Seymour, 2017; Chaudhry, 2018), when the aspect of well-being is incorporated in the change management strategies of an ES adaptation, Joo and Lee (2017) presented the outcome of career satisfaction and increase productivity of workers. This makes the argument of Miller (2016) when expounding the relationship between productivity and well-being, that making well-being the core of management practices would reap productivity gains. Along this line of argument, Laumer et al. (2016), in studying the users' response to technostress in ES adaptation, also pointed out the interconnection between productivity and well-being. As productivity is linked to the job demand workload and well-being of the users, as indicated in Nauman et al. (2019), the need to study the experiences of the accountants that relates to their productivity and well-being around the nonusability of the tools they are using to execute the tasks to fulfill their deliverables is worth exploring.

ES Usability

Usability is the conduit goal in implementing an ES software (Bevan et al., 2016), which demands that the software component should function as it is intended to be (Fitrani et al., 2019; Laumer et al., 2016). This software usability is also an expected outcome when an organization adopts an ES (Islam et al., 2017). In this context, programmers and developers of software systems should put usability at the forefront when designing and developing an enterprise software (Saxena et al., 2016) as software errors or failures related usability problem is adversely affecting the users (Khajouei et al., 2018). This aspect of software usability also occupies the top goal among the many considerations in adapting an ES (Scholtz et al., 2016) as nonusability impedes user productivity (Fitrani et al., 2019; Sadiq & Pirhonen, 2017; Yassien et al., 2017), which also triggers stress and health issues to the users (Grīnberga, 2016).

In exploring the standards from the International Organizations for Standards (IS0), Bevan et al. (2016) reiterated the software usability standard, which is applicable in the ES software. This standard is paramount to achieving usability of an ES, as suggested in Fitrani et al. (2019). As software usability is the top goal in ES adaptation, according to Scholtz et al. (2016), this standard should be fully considered by the developers and providers of the ES software (Bevan et al., 2016). In failing to achieve the needed usability in ES adaptation, Khajouei et al. (2018) highlighted the adverse effect of nonusability to the users. This confirms the indication in Fitrani et al. (2019), who is also in unison with the argument in Sadiq and Pirhonen (2017) and Yassien et al. (2017), that ES nonusability hinders user productivity.

Nonusability an Impediment to Productivity

The continuous alignment of IT and business is a great challenge in today's rapidly changing business environment Organizations (Hinkelmann et al., 2016) and ES providers should provide a consistent experience to the ES users (Attaran et al., 2019). This could be achieved with the successful ES adaptation that provided great value to the organization (Abugabah, 2017; Bhattacharya, 2016). However, despite the change

management expertise of the management and implementation professionals, ES implementation is beset by records of high failure rate, failing to meet the expected result of the adaptation (Andrianto, 2019). In most cases, the common reason for failure is the lack of a real picture of the need of the organization and the lack of knowledge about the system (Lee et al., 2020). Even with the vendors' promise of the benefits that their system can provide to the organization, implementation experts are still missing the expected improvement of the operational processes resulting in the implementation failure making the newly adapted ES be non-usable (Kunath & Winkler, 2019). This phenomenon of ES adaptation failure creates an adverse impact on the performance of an organization, thereby threatens the company's existence (Motwani, 2017). With the ES failure rate of 50% to 90% (Saxena et al., 2016), some project will push forward to be adapted and being used, thereby having the users forced to adapt how the systems works, rather than configuring the system to facilitate the execution of the tasks (Spahn et al., 2018). In this scenario, the system reliability and usability are weak, even hindering the productivity of the users (Fitrani et al., 2019; Yassien et al., 2017), which is causing stress and health issues to users (Grīnberga, 2016). Yet, Khajouei et al.(2018), who conducted a quantitative study in evaluating users' agreement to usability, asserted that significance of support provided by the ES providers to their users.

To broadly understand the perspective of the users in the ES adaptation, Abugabah (2017) had examined the influence of the system features on user satisfaction. At the outset, the author highlighted the value of user satisfaction for a successful ES adaption to the organization. Additionally, Bhattacharya (2016) enumerated the important key points that relate to user satisfaction for a successful ES adaption, such as operational efficiency, ease in merger and acquisition, a platform for innovation, and real-time support for strategic decision making. However, Saxena et al. (2016) revealed that in the burgeoning ES market, the high failure rate ranging from 50% to 90% is also causing practitioners and scholars to grapple with the belt of their expertise in delving into the causes of failures. In this connection, Kunath and Winkler (2019) suggested that the promise of the benefits of ES adaptation is not delivered as the practitioners are still missing the expected improvement. This phenomenon of adaptation failures, Kunath and Winkler (2019) suggested that it is causing organizational performance to deteriorate. Additionally, (Fitrani et al., 2019; Yassien et al., 2017) asserted that this ESs failure that is making the system unusable by the users is hindering productivity, thereby, according to Grīnberga (2016), is causing stress and health issues, affecting the workplace wellbeing of the users.

Figure 4



Automotive Dealership Information Processing as Pushed to the Accounting Department

The ES in the Automotive Dealership

The automotive dealership is one of the most successful ventures in the retail sector and plays a significant role in the global business arena due to the importance of transportation in daily life (Dunay & Turzai-Horanyi, 2019). Global Automotive Consumer study of (Deloitte 2018) stated that 15% of consumers bought their vehicle the day they go shopping, while 65% acquired their vehicle at the third visit to the dealership. This dynamism in the automotive dealership business amidst the rapidly changing business landscape (Spahn et al., 2018) also spurred the automotive dealership retail businesses to innovate to stay competitive (Bellini et al., 2017). This innovation demands the use of ES, commonly called in the industry, as a DMS (Gurumoorthy, 2016). This ES integrates all the departments in the dealerships, such as purchases, inventory, sales, parts, service, and accounting. Then, as shown in Figure 4, all the operations from the various departments are pushed to accounting for the accountants to process the transactional information for payroll, management reports, tax filing, and other regulatory compliance reporting (Limanto et al., 2016).

The Automotive Dealerships Accountants and ES Nonusability

In any business organization, an ES provides an improvement in the capability of accountants in the execution of their tasks and in the fulfillment of their deliverables (Appelbaum et al., 2017). Accounting modules of ES help accountants to go beyond just the keeping of the books of accounts, but through the integration of departmental functions and processes, which provides the efficient flow of accounting information becomes an important element for competitive advantage for a business organization (Suhaimi & Nawawi, 2016). However, events of ES failure hinder their needed productivity (Fitrani et al., 2019), and this productivity impediment affects their working condition (Bakker & Demrouti, 2018). Thereby, the nonusability of the system is causing stress and health issues for the accountants (Grīnberga, 2016). Additionally, as the ES becomes a non-usable resource for the job demands of accountants, it also affects the occupational health of accountants (Del Pozo-Antúnez et al., 2018), thereby affecting their well-being at the workplace.

The importance of automotive dealerships in the global market is highlighted by Dunay and Turzai-Horanyi (2019) while exploring the life cycle of an automotive dealership in Hungary. The authors' study is one of the few empirical studies that address the phenomena in the automotive dealership. Their paper, as inherent to the design of the study, highlighted the business components of the dealership business with emphasis on market and operation about the succession of ownership or management. Additionally, Bellini et al. (2017), while exploring the automotive retailing innovation in the UK, Germany, Italy, Serbia, and Spain, highlighted a design-driven innovation in the automotive retailing service. In contrast, Bellini et al. (2017) emphasized the marketing side by re-designing the retailing channel for the automotive dealerships using ecommerce platforms. These few studies are within the ambit of the assertion of Bellini et al. (2017), who claimed the lack of empirical studies in the phenomena surrounding car dealership operations. This lack of study in the automotive dealership operation also overlooked the accounting aspects and the accountants doing their work to process business and financial information in the automotive dealership. While Almohri et al. (2019) suggested the data-driven analytics model needed to optimize the operation of the automotive dealership, it claimed the importance of accounting for competition, but there is no mention of the pivotal role of accountants in the dealership operation.

On the other hand, in presenting the architecture of an ES for the automotive dealership, Limanto et al. (2016) attempted to expound on the accounting module being integrated with the other modules, but still, there is no mention of how the user-accountants would interact and be affected by the system. Connecting the averment of Bellini et al. (2017) about the lack of empirical studies in the automotive dealerships with the declaration of Jenko and Roblek (2016) regarding the lack of studies touching the comprehensive human factors in the ES adaptation, the arguments of these scholars manifest the lack of studies about accounting and the accountants lived experiences in the

automotive dealerships, in the event of ES failure, which Fitrani et al. (2019) labeled as nonusability. This argument is the backdrop of Grīnberga (2016), who revealed the stress and health issues caused by ES nonusability, which is also paralleled by Del Pozo-Antúnez et al. (2018) on the occupational health issues suffered by accountants from their rigorous job demands. However, there is no mention of the phenomenon in the automotive dealership operation. Therefore, connecting these lines lead to the gap of knowledge that needs to be studied, which relates to the productivity and well-being of users in events of ES nonusability from the experiences of the accountants in the automotive dealerships.

Job Demand and Work Resource

The JD-R model started in Demerouti et al. (2001) as a model of burnout and updated in Bakker and Demrouti (2018) as a theory in the study on the implications of employee well-being and performance. Whereas in Demetrouti et al. (2001), the authors broadly categorize the separation of job demands and job resource, in Bakker and Demrouti (2018), the job demand–resource theory was robustly used to infer that wellbeing and the overall organizational behavior is a function in different levels of the organizational supports. While Miller (2016) suggested that organizational leaders should emphasize well-being to gain productivity, the loss cycle of job demands in Demerouti et al. (2001) merits studying the effect of productivity on well-being.

In any business organization, all the departmental transactions are push to the accounting department for processing and management reporting. The same processes are also done in an automotive dealership operation are pushed into the accounting department for the accountants to process the financial information (Limanto et al., 2016). In ensuring efficient processing and reporting of financial information, there is a need to automate and integrate all the departmental functions (Abugabah, 2017; Kamal et al., 2018). As shown in Figure 3, Limanto et al. (2016) depicted how the information system processing in the automotive dealership is pushed to the accounting department. In this context, the use of an ES will facilitate the work of the accountants to process purchases, accounts payables, inventory, sales, accounts receivable, payroll, and cash management, for timely and efficient delivery of reports to management, automotive manufacturer, tax authorities, insurances, employee benefits, and other regulatory authorities (Gurumoorthy, 2016; Limanto et al., 2016).

In the execution of the rigors of job demands for the accountants, as suggested by Del Pozo-Antúnez et al. (2018), the JD-R model of Bakker and Demrouti (2018) confirmed that the adapted ES is a resource to be used by the accountants in the execution of their deliverables. Nevertheless, the stories of failures, as asserted by Pabst et al. (2016) and Saxena et al. (2016), are causing the system to be nonusable, which is hindering productivity (Fitrani et al., 2019). Grīnberga (2016) also highlighted the stress and health issues triggered by the system's nonusability. With the assertion of Bellini et al. (2017) on the lack of empirical studies in the automotive dealership business phenomena and the suggestion of Jenko and Roblek (2016) about the lack of a comprehensive overview of human factors in the adaptation of an ES, a glaring gap of knowledge is identified. This knowledge gap may be reduced given the data on the

productivity and well-being of automotive dealership accountants from their experiences of system nonusability.

Productivity and Well-Being of Accountants in Automotive Dealership

Work is not the primary source of happiness, but workers spent most of their waking hours at the workplace, which spurs the need to achieve a quality of life at the workplace (Black et al., 2019). This quality of life is at the core of the concept of wellbeing (Thompson & Livingston, 2018), which is the constant goal of individuals (Kahn & Juster, 2002). This continuous search for a quality life is receiving augmented attention in many professional and academic disciplines (Thompson & Livingston, 2018). In this connection, the leaders growing interested in the well-being of workers in our civilized society is the gauge of how civilized is the person occupying the organizational leadership (Bennett et al., 2017). Nevertheless, synthesizing the quality of life at work with the utility of the ES at the workplace of the accountants, as asserted in Griffin (1988), the pain caused by the nonusability of the ES could upset the constant goal of the quality of life at the workplace.

The data gathered coming from 739 accountants in Del Pozo-Antúnez et al. (2018), while investigating the effects of job demands on occupational health, highlighted the rigor of the job demands of accountants, which is causing stress and health issues among accountants. This was also paralleled in Grīnberga (2016) in studying the software attributes related to its usability and the effect on the users, that the discomfort coming from the systems nonusability creates repetitive strain and stress-related disorders on the part of the users. This picture is more aggravating when synthesized into the utilitarian

accounts' philosophy in Griffin (1988), whereby the nonutility of tools causes pain and unhappiness on the part of the users.

On the other side of the spectrum, Joo and Lee (2017), in studying the effects of perceived organizational support and psychological capital on happiness and work engagements of employees, highlighted that happy and productive worker. Connecting their findings to the utilitarian accounts' philosophy in Griffin (1988), the usability of an ES begets this happiness of the worker. If happy workers are productive (Joo & Lee, 2017), leaderships in an organization should make sure that the utility of any tools, especially the ES, which is used by the accountants in the execution of their tasks and the fulfillment of their deliverables, should be functional to avoid pain but to promote happiness.

In the middle of the spectrum of the arguments related to productivity and wellbeing of employees in the workplace, Miller (2016), in addressing the debate on productivity, highlighted the need for a deeper understanding of the nature of the link between productivity and well-being. At the outset, Miller (2016) argued that "organizations with well-being at its core will reap productivity gains" (p. 289). In the parallel line of arguments, Nielsen et al. (2017), in using the JD-R model as originally conceptualized in Demerouti et al. (2001) to quantitatively explore the relationship of the workplace resource to the employees' performance, suggested that workplace resource played the vital role for the employees' performance. In the case of an ES as a workplace resource, La Torre et al. (2019), in studying technostress or technology-related stress, suggested that even a mere interaction with the computer system is causing stress, how much more when the computer resource like the ES is nonusable? Bouncing back to the nonusability situation, the utilitarian accounts in Griffin (1988) holds true that, nonusability of an ES causes pain and unhappiness of users. Adding into the mix the updated JD-R theory in Bakker and Demrouti (2018), Any system-related stress affects productivity and well-being and vice versa (Nielsen et al., 2017), where the interconnected links still have many unanswered questions (Miller, 2016).

In this context, Black et al. (2019), from their study on workplace well-being, expounded the demarcation between *hedonic* well-being as based on positive emotion and the absence of suffering versus the *eudaimonic* as the emphasis of professional growth and development. On the other side of the argument, the authors also suggested that the approach to well-being should be both the personal and the professional aspects, the *hedonic* and the *eudaimonic*, respectively. This is supported by the authors' argument that good quality of life stems from both positive emotions and having connections with success and personal growth.

Connecting well-being with job demands, Nielsen et al. (2017), in agreement with Bakker and Demerouti (2018), provided significant insight on the effect of the resource and job demand on the well-being and productivity of the users and vice versa. In this context, with the suggestion of Black et al. (2019) that as the workers are spending most of their waking hours at work, there is a need to promote workers' happiness and wellbeing at work. This is also in parallel to the arguments of Thompson and Livingston (2018) that quality of life is the core of well-being, which should be promoted at work for the well-being of workers. Connecting this to the argument in Del Pozo-Antúnez et al. (2018) on the rigorous job demands of accountants spurs the need to explore the productivity and well-being of accountants. These arguments make the syntheses of well-being in the philosophy of the utilitarian account as asserted in Griffin (1986) with the well-being for productivity in Miller (2016) to provide the background that productivity and well-being will be studied alongside each other.

Summary and Conclusions

In the current fast-changing business competition, business organizations are adapting ESs to stay competitive (Gollner & Baumane-Vītoliņa, 2016). This phenomenon triggers an increase in the ES market demand (Market Research Future, 2020). However, adaptations of an ES are beset by incidents and a history of failures (Chakravorty et al., 2016; Pabst et al., 2016; Saxena et al., 2016). Whereby, this adaptation failure also spurs system nonusability, which impedes user productivity (Fitrani et al., 2019; Sadiq & Pirhonen, 2017). Moreover, the unproductiveness of the users spurred by the ES nonusability also triggers stress, health, and well-being issues to the users (Grīnberga, 2016), affecting occupational health issues for accountants who are subjected to rigorous job demands (Del Pozo-Antúnez et al., 2018).

Based on the synthesis from the literature review, there is a potential gap of knowledge on the phenomenon of ES nonusability as experienced by the accountants. While studies were done to explore the lives of users during the implementation as provided by Bailey and Seymour (2017) from the Sub-Saharan African companies and the study of Liere-Netheler et al. (2017) from an engineering workplace, nothing had been done in the automotive dealership workplaces. Bellini et al. (2017) argued on the lack of empirical studies in the business phenomena of the automotive dealership operations. These indications, as linked to the synthesis in the literature review, projected the visible gap that can be imbued with the knowledge inferred from the lived productivity and well-being experiences of the accountants in the automotive dealerships when their ES is nonusable. In exploring this knowledge gap, Chapter 3 includes the details on the approaches to answering the research question of this study.

Chapter 3: Research Method

The purpose of this qualitative phenomenological study was to explore and describe the lived experiences of productivity and well-being among Canadian automotive dealerships accountants when a failure occurs, causing ES nonusability (Fitrani et al., 2019; Saxena et al., 2016). Transcendental phenomenological model research aligns as a research method in a naturalistic form of inquiry that facilitates the discovery of the meaning of participants' experiences (Moustakas, 1994). To create a vivid picture of the participants' experiences, I used the philosophical underpinning of transcendental phenomenology (Husserl, 1931). The phenomenological approach can provide epistemological light to add a more meaningful dimension for exploring and describing related experiences of participants (Moustakas, 1994). Moreover, noeticnoematic approaches that elaborate the typologies and notions of human beings and their interaction with the world (Sousa, 2014) allow transcendental phenomenology to serve better as the net to catch the pieces of experience of the participants needed to establish the ontological insights on the influence of ES nonusability on the productivity and wellbeing of accountants in automotive dealerships in Canada. At least 12 participants were selected to answer an open-ended questionnaire, and the number of participants was increased until data saturation was achieved.

Research Design and Rationale

Determining the appropriate methodology for a study is driven by the purpose and the research question. With a focus on comprehending how people make meaning of their lived experiences, how they picture those experiences, and how they define their experiences (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016), I used the qualitative method to answer the following research question: What are the lived experiences of Canadian automotive dealership accountants related to their productivity and well-being when the ES is nonusable? In the process, the categorization of the lived experiences of participating accountants from Canadian automotive dealerships was done to discover the meaning of their experiences in ES adaptation and nonusability (Rahman, 2017). Qualitative research is well suited to describe and interpret phenomena from the views and lived experiences of participants to discover the meaning of their situation or phenomena (Maxwell, 2012; Moustakas, 1994).

The quantitative approach could have been used in this study, especially on the aspect of operationalization, to determine and measure the variable of interest (Burkholder et al., 2016). Quantifiable statistical analysis could have been used to analyze the characteristics of the sample or to infer the generalization of the population (Burton, 2011; Frankfort-Nachmias & Leon-Guerrero, 2018). However, with its use of a positivist lens to look at the situation being detached from the phenomenon (Howson, 2019), it was not useful to reflectively infer the lived experiences of the participants.

Another optional approach was mixed-methods research. Plano Clark and Ivankova (2016) suggested the robustness of the qualitative component and the numbers from the quantitative aspects of a study. However, the nature of the positivistic components that claim the approach of creating knowledge detached from the phenomenon under study (Howson, 2019), the mixed-methods approach was not applicable in my research. The location of the reality of my study was in the inner corethat is, the experiences of the participants (Howell, 2013). Because of the need to identify the transcendental awareness of the participant accountants in the auto dealership, the mixed-methods approach was not applicable.

The inapplicability of the quantitative and mixed methods points to the fit of the qualitative phenomenology with its philosophy and practices as a research approach that extends from the tradition of Husserl (1859-1938), Heidegger (1889-1976), and Merleau-Ponty (1908-1961). These philosophers conceived phenomenology as an examination of consciousness, an examination of what Heidegger called *dasein* or *being in the world*, which points to Heidegger's reliance on hermeneutic phenomenology (Howell, 2013). Adding to this examination is Merleau-Ponty's world of inalienable presence that also points to Husserl's identified distinction between the intentionality of consciousness, pointing towards which consciousness is being directed to noema, which points to Husserl's reliance on transcendental phenomenology. These philosophical underpinnings infer the value of self-examination to discover the nature and the meaning of things beyond the appearance, with the lens to look at the essence of things (Moustakas, 1994). These corresponding approaches provide a tool to explore the depth of the lived experiences of participants beyond their appearance (Sheehan, 2014), from the act of believing or desiring something to that which is believed and desired (Howell, 2013). The suspension of judgment regarding the objects of consciousness enables the epoché approach in transcendental phenomenology to provide the hermeneutic interpretations outside of researcher bias (Moustakas, 1994). This enables both the audio and visual

captures to infer the overarching things beyond the other existing objects in the phenomenon under investigation (Howell, 2013).

Role of the Researcher

The researcher in qualitative studies is the instrument being immersed in the phenomenon (Maxwell, 2012). Researchers bring their perspectives, paradigms, experience, knowledge, and expectations. In qualitative research, the researcher observes, collects, and interprets the data to better understand the participants' experiences (Ravitch & Carl, 2016). My role and relationship with the participants were as an interviewer and as a relational observer where shared experiences related to my position as a controller, the head of an accounting department in a dealership in Western Canada.

I should acknowledge and document any potential influence of my biases on the study (Vogt et al., 2014). Nevertheless, with the epoché principle in transcendental phenomenology (Moustakas, 1994), I consciously opened a fresh approach to my knowledge of something. In this manner, while speaking the same language and acting with the same habits in the industry, by abstaining from what I know while reflecting on the experiences of other human beings (Van Manen, 2016), I based my inquiry on the existing literature and the interpretations, thoughts, concepts, and perspectives of the participants. In this approach, I could subjugate my expectations in favor of the data gathered. Moreover, in adherence to research ethics and Walden University research quality, I did not recruit any of my subordinates as participants. Additionally, I acknowledged and documented any potential influence of my biases on the study (Vogt

et al., 2014). Thus, there was no conflict of interest or power differentials evident in the data collection process.

Methodology

Participant Selection Logic

The participants of my study were the controllers, accountants, accounting staff, or those who used to be accountants of automotive dealerships in Western Canada. The sampling strategy for this qualitative study was purposeful sampling with the use of criterion-based and knowledge techniques (Patton, 2014). The criteria for the selection included the following: participants from automotive dealerships who (a) had been working as a controller, accountant, or accounting staff; (b) had been in the position or function for at least six months; (c) used an ES or a DMS to process, execute, and deliver accounting tasks and reports; and (d) experienced, in the past, situations of system failure making the system nonusable and preventing the execution of tasks in a timely fashion. Individuals who had worked at but left a dealership were also included provided they also used DMS, experienced system nonusability hindering their productivity, and had left the dealership no more than one year prior.

Candidates were found on LinkedIn, and I contacted them through the websites of the dealerships. Each candidate was contacted by telephone, email, or LinkedIn messaging. Via email or messaging, a link was provided that directed the potential participant to the invitation letter with an information request form (Appendix A). At the first invitation, if individuals consented to participate via the web portal, they were routed to another page with the study overview and the official consent form. If they consented to participate and requested to receive the overview and the consent form via email, I sent the same via email. Whether candidates participated or not, they could recommend or invite a friend by sending the link via email. If the recommended person participated, they experienced the same process.

To achieve data and content quality, I planned to use 12 or more responses (Patton, 2014) or until data saturation was achieved. The saturation point is determined when no new information emerges during the coding (Saldaña, 2016), but data reinforce what has already been inferred, which is sufficient to answer the research question (Burkholder et al., 2016). The number of participants can be reduced when the saturation is achieved earlier, or the number can grow if more data are needed (Patton, 2014). Nevertheless, I planned to gather at least 15 responses, whether saturation had been achieved prior to that number or not.

Patton (2014) suggested that the use of online or virtual media in data gathering overcomes the limits of time and space. Technology enhances the potential access to participants by overcoming geographical limits without a need for travel (Ravitch & Carl, 2016). The participants of this study had the option to answer via the study portal or via individual online interviews, which could run from 45 minutes to 1 hour to answer the question. When the participants opted for an individual interview via online media, such as Skype, Zoom, Facebook Messenger, Google Hangout, or WhatsApp, the recorded interview was transcribed into the study portal. This allowed for uniformity of analysis. Moreover, as indicated in the letter to the candidate, when participants responded directly to the study portal, I called or contacted them via phone, Skype, Zoom, Facebook

Messenger, Google Hangout, or WhatsApp to clarify their statement or to follow up with a probing question to enhance the depth of the inquiry. I a participant decided to stop participating, my contact details were available for any intention to withdraw as a participant, as indicated in the consent form. At every end of the interview or every new response of a participant, the data were analyzed to determine the point when no new ideas or concepts were emerging, gauging saturation or redundancy.

Instrumentation

The main collection instrument in this study was the online study portal with open-ended questions (see Appendix C). I developed the instrument based on the literature review and the synthesized inferences to answer the research question. The participant information portion captured the necessary information to validate whether a participant could be included in the analysis according to the scope and the criteria; this ensured that data captured were relevant to the study (Patton, 2014). These questions, though few, were crafted in a dynamic and facilitative format to evoke rich data from participants in recalling their experiences, whether answering via the online study portal or in an interactive online interview.

The technology-mediated data collection in this study was made intentionally rigorous and systematic, as suggested in Ravitch and Carl (2016). The participants' responses were stored in the secured database, where they were downloaded into commadelimited or Excel formal for coding or analysis. When a participant opted for an individual interview, the responses were transcribed and input into the study portal for consistency and uniformity. To enhance inquiry, follow-up probing questions or clarifications were also done by telephone, Skype, Zoom, Facebook Messenger, Google Hangout, or WhatsApp, according to the preference of the participant.

Pilot Study

A Pilot study was conducted with two participants. This pilot study was needed to explore the limitations of recruitment, such as access to participants and the adequacy of the data collection instrument (Janghorban et al., 2013). The results in the pilot study were just used to test the recruitment procedures and the instrument. Data gathered was not aggregated in the data analysis. Experiences gain in the pilot study are discussed in detail in Chapter 4.

Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection

With the trend of the online presence in the automotive dealership operation, the candidate participants, who are the controllers, accountants, or accounting staff in the dealership, were contacted using their contact information on the website of their dealership. Then, they were contacted first by phone, introduced myself, and discussed the study, asking if they were willing to receive the email link about the study. I connected with members of the LinkedIn group called Voice of Dealership Accounting Professionals (VDAP), contacting or messaging those who were from Western Canada. When they accepted, they received an email with the link to the study invitation. In opening the link, they were routed to the study portal page, as shown in Appendix A. Their participation depended on their consent after reading the consent form, as shown in Appendix A. At this point, the participating candidate had two options to participate, either directly input answers to the open-ended questions at the study portal or do it

through an online video interview based on the preferred platform such as Skype, Zoom, Facebook Messenger, Google Hangout, or WhatsApp.

When the candidate chose to participate via the online portal, after affirming the participation in the official consent form, as shown in Appendix B, the system routed to the questionnaire page in the study portal. When participation was via individual online interviews, I sent an email setting the date and time of the 45 minutes to 1-hour interview and the platform to use. The online interview was recorded, and the transcription was input into the online study portal for consistency of the source of analysis. In both modes of participation, the participants were made aware that follow-up or probing questions could be asked later via an online video meeting platform. These follow-up probing questions added to the depth of the inquiry and content validity (Burkholder et al., 2016).

With an *epoché* approach for an enhanced atmosphere and report with the participants (Moustakas, 1994), the online interview or follow-up probing questions were recorded on my computer during the interview using the open-source recorder called Simplescreen Recorder. This recorded video and audio into the MP4 format. Whereby the recorded files and the transcriptions were input into the online portal linked to the other information from the specific participant. Moreover, my observations from the facial expression of the participants were also recorded in my observation journal on that specific participant, which was also inputted into the observation database field in the study database, adding a more depth layer in the inquiry.

Data Analysis Plan

Data analysis is the process of capturing the essential perceptions and concepts used by the participants to establish the meaning of their experiences (Smith et al., 2009). This process is a crucial component in qualitative research for intentional, systematic scrutiny of data throughout the research process (Ravitch & Carl, 2016). In the data analysis process, the purpose of the study is the guide for the researcher in selecting the methods of analysis (Morse, 1994) to answer the research question of the study. The data from the interactive online portal and email communication with the participants were collected, analyzed, and used in the study. The analytical conduct would be the line-byline analysis of personal narratives of the participants, to identify emergent themes and patterns, organizations and format of themes, identification of a framework for the relationships between themes, including the reflection of perceptions, conceptions, and processes (Smith et al., 2009). The steps below were used to analyze data in the transcendental phenomenological study.

- 1. Gather the full description of the participants' perception when their ES is nonusable
- 2. Use transcripts of participant's experiences and complete steps a to g below
 - a. Review important statements regarding their ES nonusability experiences.
 - b. If more robust information is needed, make follow-up questions to the participants.
 - c. Write down statements that are repetitive or overlapping (invariant horizon).

- d. Develop themes from the invariant horizons.
- e. Synthesize description to form a textual-structural essence.
- f. Create a textual-structural description of the perception for each dealership accountants on the situations of their ES nonusability.
- 3. Use the participant-accountant transcripts to complete the above steps.
- 4. Combine all the descriptions into a single representation of the essence of the phenomenon. The combination of the structural and textual description will provide a uniquely united description of the phenomenon (Moustakas, 1994).

The data analysis process was nonlinear, with an iterative path leading to the final internally consistent representation of experiences. In this process, the philosophical underpinning of the transcendental phenomenology, as indicated in Moustakas (1994) and further expounded in (Sheehan 2014), that starts from the data gathering, would continue to gaze beyond the nematic appearance of the experiences. This gaze also included the noetic path on the core source of the perfectly illuminated self-evidence (Moustakas, 1994). In this exercise, the initial coding was done through the spreadsheet. Then, all the data from the participants were be uploaded to MaxQDA Analytics Pro 2020, where the lexical search and word cloud added more codes, themes, and the relationship map of the themes.

Addressing the Research Question

The purpose of the interview questions, as indicated in Appendix C, was to elicit insights about the research question: What are the lived experiences related to the wellbeing and productivity of Canadian dealership accountants when ES nonusability occurs?
The expected data was narrative according to what the participants experienced. They were analyzed with the blending of the modified Stevick-Colaizzi-Keen (SCK), as shown in Figure 5.

Analytical Approach

As shown in Figure 5, the modified SCK, as suggested in Moustakas (1994), helped me start with the *epoché* approach in transcendental phenomenology. The approach provided guidance to start the analysis by bracketing my own experiences, biases, and prejudices about the phenomenon. This process was useful for me as a researcher working as a controller in one of the automotive dealerships in British Columbia, then moved to another automotive dealership in Alberta two months before the IRB approval was received. Despite being immersed in the phenomenon, the SCK approach enabled me to describe my experiences of the phenomenon and set aside my natural attitude and all the assumptions about the things around me (Langdridge, as cited in Moustakas, 1994). The phenomenological *epoché* does not eliminate everything nor deny the reality of things but should spur me to doubt my own biases and everyday knowledge I have in advance, before the facts and the truth is uncovered and known (Yüksel & Yıldırım, 2015).

Figure 5

The Modified of Stevick-Colaizzi-Keen



Note. Adapted from *Phenomenological Research Methods*, by Moustakas, 1994, Sage Publications.

I used the Stevich-Colaizzi-Keen approach as the starting point to infer the relevant experience. In conjunction with the *epoché* approach in transcendental phenomenology, I can reflect and document the structure and essences of my own experience that relates to the textures of the narrated experiences while remaining open to

adapt to the discovery of the truth. As depicted in Figure 5, the SCK transcendentalphenomenological reduction, the generation of textual description of the research participants, producing themes and units of meaning to the generation of textual description of the experience of the participants, which should produce the groupings of relevant experience of the participants. The SCK imaginative variation in the development of the epitome of experiences leads to the descriptive synthesis. At the outset, SCK generated the combined synthesis that leads to the final themes.

Coding Procedure

The bracketing of my own experience through the epoché approach in the modified Stevick-Colaizzie-Keen (SCK) helped me to put aside my own experience of the phenomenon. I could list every relevant expression with a pure transcendental ego. Then, following the steps as indicated in Figure 5, gather significant statements and grouped the codes into clusters labeled as invariant horizon or constituents as suggested in Moustakas (1994). After the preliminary groupings, reduction and elimination of the meaning units commenced. Yüksel and Yıldırım (2015) suggested that the reduction process in the phenomenological study should eliminate all elements that are not directly within the conscious experience of the participants.

Software Tool

The software tool used to help in the data analysis in this study is MaxQDA Analytics Pro 2020. After the themes and codes are identified, this software helped in the data analysis. Moreover, with its features on the lexical search and word cloud analysis from all the included and activated documents, the MaxQDA Analytics Pro 2020 software also helped identify major themes and codes. This CAQDAS software also helped me maintain and organize evolving and potentially complex coding. Furthermore, it also helped me to shift quickly between analytics tasks from coding, memo writing, and exploring patterns and progress. At the outset, MaxQDA Analytics Pro 2020 also helped me address discrepant cases with the possibility of changing or update the codes while being analyzed.

Treatment of Discrepant Cases

Discrepant cases in the qualitative analysis are usually found in the elimination or reduction process, they are not leftovers, but they need to be looked at closely as they could provide additional insights (Erickson, 2012). They motivate rethinking the existing codes, categories, and themes (Saldaña, 2016). Erickson (2012) suggested that these discrepant cases come through the analytic reduction with patterns of the statement having a wide reach connecting by threads to sub assertions, which are ultimately connected to the data bits across multiple sources within the overall data gathered from the participants. In this context, discrepant cases in my data analysis were treated as a useful idea for specific unique experiences of the participants, which could infer important bits of information that should add to the rigor of the answer to the research question.

Issues of Trustworthiness

Credibility

Credibility is the confidence that the data gathered represents the truth (Polit & Beck, 2008). This ensured that the study measures what is intended and is a true

reflection of the social reality of the participants (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). To achieve the goal of quality, various strategies need to be applied (Maxwell, 2012). Nevertheless, it is not necessary to use all the available strategies to achieve credibility rather than the use of strategies that are appropriate to study (Burkholder et al., 2016).

I intended to apply saturation point gauging and, member checking, and continuous reflexibility throughout the study processes. The process of achieving the saturation point in this study was to continually bring in new participants until the data set was complete (Bowen, 2009). This saturation point was reached when there were no identifiable new insights or themes (Saldaña, 2016), and the existing inferred data was sufficient to answer the research question (Burkholder et al., 2016). The next strategy to be applied was member checking. This confirmed the findings and the interpretation with the participants (Nowell et al., 2017). This strategy clarified responses from the perspective of the participants (Maxwell, 2012), which could also be done in parallel with the follow-up probing calls or video conference. Furthermore, the continuous reflexibility regarding my own experience and biases was neutralized with the application of the *epoché* approach in the transcendental phenomenological study (Moustakas, 1994).

Transferability

Transferability in qualitative research is the equivalent of generalization in the quantitative study (Maxwell, 2012). This relates to providing a thick description of the study (Nowell et al., 2017). This description must specify everything that the readers of the study should know (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). In this context, Maxwell (2012) suggested that thick description demands attention to the connection of the different parts

of the study design that leads to coherence. This ensured that another researcher would be able to repeat the work. Yet, as this study was qualitative, transferability of findings is not expected.

In addition to the major definitions in the study and the rigor of the literature review, one of the important pieces in this exercise was the description of the evidence of saturation and the evidence of the member checking and probing follow-up calls. Then, documenting the process of how the study was undertaken. This also included documents of the location of the dealership without mention of the names of the participants to abide by ethical considerations.

Dependability

Dependability demands solid consistency in data collection, analysis, and reporting of the study (Burkholder et al., 2016). This relates to the demonstration of the truth value of the multiple perspectives, that is, the dependability of the inferred findings amidst variability, which is the applicability of findings to a broader context (Whittemore et al., 2001). In this context, Lincoln and Guba (1985) hinted that an audit trail, where the readers of the study can examine the research process to judge the dependability of research.

In this study, to maintain the audit trail, all the processes were documented with cross-referencing links for an easy algorithmic trace. These referencing nodes were presented in a graph and tables for easy visual abstraction. Moreover, when there was a need to confirm some data inference from the accountant participants relating to the behaviors and features of usability of the ES they were using, triangulation in terms of data source could be done. This could come from the ES implementation professionals or mentors in specific DMS used by the dealership where the accountant participant, the source of the data, is working.

Confirmability

Confirmability is related to the dependability of the traceability in the audit trail (Burkholder et al., 2016; Whittemore et al., 2001). This demands that the finding should be grounded in data (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). Whereby, the *epoché* approach in transcendental phenomenology was very helpful to set aside my biases, as the researcher, in the continuous exercise of reflexibility to focus more on the data.

Ethical Procedures

To adhere to the ethical standard at Walden University, I secured IRB approval (#01-26-21-0741763). According to the IRB approval requirement, all the related ethical and privacy protection needed in the approval, as indicated in the research ethics approval checklist, were considered. Ethical adherence is followed in the recruitment, respect, privacy protection, and security of the participants' data. In the recruitment of participants, the candidates are free to participate or not and no undue influence, coercion, or conflict of interest happening in the participants' recruitment. The candidate will signify consent twice before participating. While participating, he/she can cancel his/her participation. Candidates are also given the contact details, phone and email of IRB or Walden participants, and advocacy if they need to clarify the study.

To implement the participants' anonymity, except the researcher and dissertation chair, and committee members, no one will know who is participating. When follow-up probing calls are done, the source of the statement or data is hidden. With the protection and respect of the privacy of the participants, data are also protected and secured in a web server being access with SSL encryption. The data were encrypted and downloaded into my highly secured and antivirus and rootkit-protected computer from being used for analysis. Whereby data are retained for at least five years and be purge securely thereafter.

Summary

The qualitative transcendental phenomenological approach was used to seek the answer to the research question in this study. In the phenomenon of the ES, nonusability was at the settings of the automotive dealership, specifically inferring the experiences of the accountants of the dealership in Western Canada comprising the provinces of Alberta and British Columbia. No one among my staff accountants was invited as participants in the study. This ensured that there was no coercion or any conflict of interest. This also adhered to the total anonymity of the participants.

The candidates received an invitation by telephone and email. The subsequent invitation by email contained the written contents of the invitation, as indicated in Appendix A. When a candidate accepted the invitation to participate, they received the email containing the official consent form in Appendix B. To lighten the possible burden of the participants in their participation, they could cancel their participation midway in the study, as indicated in the Study Information Request Form, part of Appendix A. To participate, the candidate had the option to answer the open-ended questionnaire online or via an individual interview. The participants were also made aware that I, the researcher, may make follow-up and probing questions to ensure getting the quality of data (Rubin & Rubin, 2012).

The data collected was stored in the highly secured online database then downloaded via SSL encrypted connection to my highly protected and secured computer. The data were coded and grouped into clusters and themes, as indicated in <u>Saldaña</u> (<u>2016</u>). Whereby every new participant responded to the question, the analysis was done to gauge the saturation point. They helped organize and analyze the data gathered. The research process, the data gathering, and all aspects of the study were documented, and the detailed analysis will be presented in Chapter 4.

Chapter 4: Results

The focus of this study was to explore the lived experiences related to productivity and well-being among Canadian automotive dealership accountants when confronted with ES nonusability. On the degree of failures in the use of an ES (Saxena et al., 2016), the findings hold true that there is a range of failures experienced by accountants in automotive dealerships of Canada related to productivity and well-being. The purpose of this study was to explore the lived productivity and well-being experiences of Canadian automotive dealership accountants when a failure occurs, causing ES nonusability. The central research question was: What are the lived experiences of Canadian automotive dealership accountants related to their productivity and well-being when the ES is nonusable? To answer the research question, I used the qualitative transcendental phenomenology to generate rich data on the productivity and well-being experiences of participating accountants when their ES or DMS is nonusable.

The modified SCK data analysis approach was applied in this transcendental phenomenological study to provide meaning to the dealership accountants' experiences of ES nonusability, thereby addressing the research question. The phenomenon as perceived and experienced by the participant is the *noema* or meaning (Moustakas, 1994); the *noesis* is the phenomenological transcendence experienced by the participants. Husserl (1931) suggested that noema and noesis coexist together and represent the deep intentional consciousness of the phenomenon—the explication, unveiling, and clarifying of what is present in the consciousness is noematic—while sharing the intent of the process.

Individuals' experiences are continuous, with new meanings continuously arising in fresh ways (Moustakas, 1994). When motivation and fresh life connect, the process of deriving meaning starts anew. This makes the understanding and contentment of knowledge and experience of any phenomenon limitless, and by giving new life to a phenomenon, regardless of confusion, transcendental revelations occur. I explicated the meaning of the participants' experiences via the process of epoché, which is directly emphasized in SCK (Figure 5).

This chapter starts with the narrative of the pilot study. Then, it is followed by the study setting, including the participants' demographics. Then, I discuss the data collection, the data analysis, and evidence of trustworthiness. This chapter concludes with the results of the analysis, followed by a chapter summary.

Pilot Study

After I received IRB approval (#01-26-21-0741763), I began conducting the pilot study. The pilot study was undertaken to test my procedures and research instrument. A pilot study helps researchers find possible problems and barriers that could potentially arise in the full-scale investigation (Janghorban et al., 2013). I contacted potential participants by phone and email. The first candidate I contacted declined to participate because of a busy schedule. The next two candidates who participated in the study were used for testing the procedure and research instruments. The pilot study revealed that the research instrument was accepted and understood by the participants clearly. The pilot participants responded to the open-ended online questions that are useful to answer the research question. During the testing, I discovered that the participant accountants' busy

schedules were the main reason they would decline to participate; doing the individual interview for 30 to 45 minutes impossible to undertake. Therefore, I immediately applied to IRB to use email as an additional procedure to gather data, which was approved. With the use of email in gathering data and follow-up questions, I was able to collect the needed data. The exchange of interaction via email helped the dynamics of a qualitative study, making it a replacement of the live interaction in an individual interview. To enhance the quality of this study, data collected from the pilot study were not aggregated in the final analysis.

Research Setting

The busy work schedules of the participants prevented them from participating in a semistructured interview via Zoom, Skype, or telephone. All the participants confirmed their voluntary consent to participate via a dedicated online consent form; after submitting their informed consent voluntarily, they received via email a link to the openended questions. After receiving their answers, I emailed them for further clarification and expansion, which became more interactive via email. Before the use of email was approved by IRB as another data gathering procedure, I did the follow-up questions via telephone. This was the case of the first two participants in the pilot study. Then, I did the follow-up questions via email when the use of email was approved by IRB as an additional data gathering approach. Because the open-ended instruments are related to the working environment in the dealership, participants could easily understand the openended questions via the online portal and via email interactions rather than individual interviews.

Demographics

I sought to recruit at least 12 participants. The recruitment activities resulted in 16 candidates who participated in the study. These individuals were controllers, accountants, and administrative staff handling accounting functions in Canadian automotive dealerships in Western Canadian provinces. These participants were using an ES called DMS to execute their day-to-day accounting-related tasks and to fulfill their deliverables and business reports. The work experience of the participants in dealership accounting ranged from one to 34 years. While some participants had no accounting experience before working at the dealership, there were participants who had many years of accounting experience before working at the dealership.

Table 1

Demographics of Research Participants

Participant code	Function	Brand code	DMS code	Dealership accounting experience (years)	Accounting experience before dealership (years)	Accounting credential
CA	Controller	BRAND1	DMS1/DMS3/DMS2	6	20	EDU
SH1	Controller	BRAND6/BRAND7	DMS1/DMS2	8	0	EDU
MS	Controller	BRAND9	DMS2	2	14	CPA
IR	Controller	BRAND5	DMS2	2	12	EDU
KT	Controller	BRAND1	DMS2	4	10	CPA
IW	Controller	BRAND1	DMS2	2	15	EDU
RS	Controller	BRAND2	DMS2	5	20	CPA
CL	Controller	BRAND4	DMS4	2	0	EDU
SH2	Controller	BRAND1	DMS2	14	0	EDU
EJ	Administrative staff	BRAND4	DMS2/DMS1	2	0	NO-EDU
SA	Controller	BRAND8	DMS1	34	0	CPA
JW	Controller	BRAND1	DMS3	2	0	NO-EDU
JG	Assistant controller	BRAND4	DMS1	8	0	NO-EDU
LM	Controller	BRAND2	DMS3	12	0	EDU
DC	Controller	BRAND6	DMS DMS2	11	3	EDU
KP	AP/AR	BRAND1	DMS2	2	0	EDU

Note. EDU = basic to intermediate accounting education; NO-EDU = basic or no accounting education; CPA = has accounting designation/certification

Data Collection

Sixteen dealership controllers and staff with accounting functions participated in the study. Virtual platforms, such as Skype, Zoom, or Google Meet, and telephones were planned for use for individual interviews as part of the data-gathering plan. However, due to the nature of the working environment and job demands of the accountants, individual interviews did not occur. Instead, I received IRB approval to use email as an additional data-gathering procedure.

To announce my study, I posted a link on LinkedIn and Twitter. Nevertheless, t no participants were found using these social media platforms. Most participants were coming from personal invitations through the websites of dealerships and through referrals of friends and professional connections. Personal invitations were sent through the telephone, email, or both. However, two candidates submitted their consent forms after the first contact. Most of the candidates submitted their consent forms after two to five follow-up calls or emails. Online open-ended questions were sent immediately after participants submitted their consent form; except for three participants, participants answered the online open-ended questions immediately. One participant used email to answer the open-ended questions. Most participants used the online study portal. After the use of email was approved by IRB as an additional procedure to gather data and member checking, I immediately updated consent to include email as an option to answer the open-ended questions. I also made an announcement to those already contacted and participating. Among the 16 participants, I followed up by phone with two of them, and confirmation of our conversation was done via email. The interactive communication via

email, in addition to the participants' initial answers to the open-ended questions at the study portal, provided a much clearer narrative than individual interviews via Skype, Zoom, or other social media platforms would have. Participants were able to write the narration of their experiences; there was no need for further transcriptions. The situation of the study follows the indication in Rädiker and Kuckartz (2020).

Initial Contact

After I received approval from IRB (#01-26-21-0741763), I began the process of recruiting participants. I used the dealership websites to look for the contact details of the controllers and accountants. Then, I put them into a spreadsheet. I also posted the link to the study portal I personally created on LinkedIn and Twitter. No one responded from LinkedIn or Twitter. The recruited participants were those I made initial contact with via phone, email, or both. When a potential participant was interested, I sent them the link to the study portal announcement page. After clicking the tab to *learn more before participating*, the candidate was routed to the IRB-approved consent form. After reading, if they consented, they filled out the form and submitted it. After clicking the submit button, they received a link to the page of the open-ended questions.

Obtaining Participants' Narrative Experiences

When participants chose the online open-ended portal to answer the questions, they used the questions link they received after hitting the submit button of the consent form. Before the email communication was approved by IRB as my additional datagathering procedure, I called three participants to clarify their testimonies or answers to the questions. When email was approved by IRB as an additional procedure in my data gathering, I clarified participants' statements via email. Two participants opted to answer by email, whereby we also exchanged emails, making the data gathering more interactive. As the participants used the online portal or email, transcription was not needed (Rädiker & Kuckartz, 2020). For three participants, I contacted them by telephone for follow-up questions, transcribed the conversations, and had them confirm the transcript by email.

Reflective Field Notes and Journaling

Reflective journaling and recording all pertinent observations, situations, circumstances, and information is used to confirm participants' testimonies or answers to ensure trustworthiness and reduce potential researcher bias (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016; Ravitch & Carl, 2016). The reflective journaling and recording relevant details during data gathering address a research's reliability by providing consistency and stability on the questions, and follow-up communications are conducted to capture the data (Webster & Mertova, 2007). Throughout the data gathering and the interactive follow-up questions via email or phone, my journal entries contained the experiences and thoughts I had as participants shared their experiences with the questions asked.

Member Checking

After obtaining participants' answers to the online questions or by email, I read and analyzed them according to the research question as indicated in Chapter 1. Then, if needed, I contacted participants for further clarification. Before I received IRB approval to use email as an additional approach to gather data, I called two participants to clarify their statements. Then, after the IRB approval to use email, I used it for member checking. I emailed participants a transcription for their confirmation, where they replied to confirm that the transcription was correct. Then, after the email was approved as a procedure to gather data, I emailed participants for follow-up questions instead of using the telephone. This procedure helped to confirm the data collected (Birt et al., 2016). Except for two participants called by telephone who confirmed their words via email, most participants expressed their own experiences as they typed in the research portal and via email interaction, and there was no member checking needed as the narrations were written by the participants themselves (Rädiker & Kuckartz, 2020).

Data Analysis

I used the modified Stevick-Colaizzi-Keen (SCK) analysis as indicated in Moustakas (1994) in analyzing the data gathered in this study. The analytical process, as depicted in Figure 5, was applied to the phenomenological data to move inductively from significant statements of the 16 participants to the top 6 significant themes: (a) ES/DMS support, (b) job demand for accountants, (c) importance of training, (d) limited features / DMS providers slow to improve, (e) setup and configuration, and (f) proactive approach.

The Epoché Approach

As a researcher, at the same time working as a controller in a dealership, I am immersed in the phenomenon of my research. In bracketing my own biases since the start of the study, I started the data analysis engaged in the epoché approach to prepare for unbiased uncovering of new knowledge. I reflected and listed down my own experiences and perceptions with the phenomenon and then consciously set aside my suppositions, perceptions, and biases, to be disconnected from any application of my memories about the phenomenon being studied (Moustakas, 1994). Bracketing and putting aside my interpretations and assumptions allowed me to see the phenomenon for what it was (Finlay, 2014). This epoché process was necessary for the unbiased extracting and explicating of the lived experiences of the Canadian dealerships' accountants. The application of the epoché approach as prescribed in the transcendental phenomenological study, which is also emphasized in the modified SCK as depicted in Figure 5, was well suited to start the analysis of this study.

Coding Process

The first step to the coding process was to download the participants' answers to the open-ended questions, as shown in Appendix C, from the study portal database. Then, programmatically merged them into MS Word to review the responses of the participants. Any new participant answer from the research portal or email interaction was downloaded into a Word file delineated by participants. To hide the identity of the participants, instead of using their names, they were replaced with codes. To hide the automotive brand being sold by the dealership where a participant is working, I coded the automotive brands from BRAND1 to BRAND9. Furthermore, I also hide the identity of the ES used by the participants, coding them as DMS1 TO DMS4. Then, I also coded the accounting credentials of the participants into Non-EDU for those who did not have proper accounting training, EDU for those with accounting education, and CPA for those, in addition to their education, also had a recognized accounting designation.

After the codes to hide identity was arranged, I proceeded to create the initial code segments on the elements of the participants' narration. Part of my first cycle coding

was to review and analyze every new participant for the possibility of follow-up questions and to constantly determine the data saturation. The participants' answers to the open-ended online questions, email interactions, and telephone follow-up questions confirmed via email provided rich and thick responses to the research questions. All data collected were valuable in providing the descriptive themes, which provided meaning to the phenomenon being studied. To infer a more polished data analysis, I used the modified Stevick-Colaizzi-Keen, as shown in Figure 5. My original plan was to use the blended version of Stevick-Colaizzi-Keen and modified van-Kaam (VK), but upon dissecting deeper into the data of my study, SCK sufficed to be used alone. In this context, I decided to use SCK fully due to its emphasis on the epoché bracketing that blends very well with the emphasis of the epoché approach in the transcendental phenomenology used in this study.

I used MS Word to write down my data-gathering experiences and analytical memos. As planned in Chapter 3, I used MaxQDA Analytics Pro 2020 to further analyze the data gathered, where I could recode while putting memos in each code and easily merge codes with significant similarities. In this software, I could export my final codes with their textual elements and corresponding frequencies. I also could export the participants' perception of significance, as shown in Figure 6, to provide a visual presentation on how the themes occupied significance in the perception of the participants. The use of transcendental phenomenology was aligned with the suggestion in Moustakas (1994), which was synthesized and expounded further in Sheehan (2014) that the themes were the *noema* or the meaning of the participants' experiences. In

contrast, the *noesis* is the transcendence or the picture of the meaning of the participants' experiences.

Discrepant Case

Saldaña (2016) suggested the use of multiple sources to validate the coding and the trustworthiness of the study. With the busy schedules of the dealership accountants, most participants used the online portal and email. The exchanges of email made the data gathering to be semistructured and interactive. In this manner, I could confirm and reconcile the discrepancy of the data collected. However, Erickson (2012) suggested that discrepant cases need to be looked at closely as they could provide additional insights.

The incorporation of the transcendental phenomenological study helped me to investigate the experiences of productivity and well-being of the Canadian dealership accountants when their ES nonusable. The use of this approach allowed me to capture an individual's deeper experiences when ES nonusability occurred. To help capture the better experience, I focused on the participants with organizational accountabilities such as the controllers and staff with cash accounting, inventory, accounts receivable or payable functions. The negative sample was coming from a participant, though handling an accounting function but not responsible for the timely submission of management reports.

Table 2

Final Themes and Textual Elements

Themes	Textual elements
ES/DMS support	They are quick and ready to figure out the problems. Support quickly resolved problems. But dealing with a bad support agent is stressful.
Job demands for accountants	Most of the nonusability affecting productivity and stress level have happened at month-end. Stressful, especially when the executives are waiting for the reports. Affect sleep pattern and mental state. They were aggravated by COVID 19 pandemic.
Importance of training	Yes, they gave us a fair amount of training, so we're fine, but it's up to the user response. They do not have a good training manual. We tried a couple of online tutorials they recommended. It took us almost a full day to try and figure out how to print a
Limited	It is too antiquated and not up for trying to improve. DMS
features/providers	providers are not looking at improving. Very slow. There is
slow to improve	always room for improvement. I just find that sometimes when I want to execute something but not sure what the function should be.
Set-up and configuration	We have custom reports that we use every day, those weren't set up, so we couldn't use those. The system does not have good reporting setups. It only caused me issues a handful of times. Mostly they have been related to power or internet provider issues—no audio computer.
Proactive approach	We have a proactive approach to dealing with delays. We were mostly able to figure some things out on our own. We have addressed those gaps with tools such as spreadsheet software.

Evidence of Trustworthiness

Credibility

There was no omitted approach as planned in Chapter 3. Nevertheless, to further

strengthen the credibility of this study, email was used to gather data, follow-up

questions, and member checking. The use of email as an additional data gathering

procedure as approved by IRB gotten what the participants had narrated as they typed their own words on the email. The process dispensed the need for further transcriptions.

Transferability

To ensure transferability, I employed all the measures as outlined in Chapter 3. One of these is the thick description. Thick description entails multiple reviews of the participants' data and interactively communicate to them via email to deepen the data gathered from the participants. This includes multiple paragraph contextualization to ensure integrity and transferability. While the process may be transferable, the findings will not be, given the small and nonrandom sample.

Dependability

Dependability is attained when the credibility of the study is strong (Morse, 2015). The dependability of this study was achieved through continuous reflexivity, the documentation of decisions and actions recorded in a detailed study journal. Member checking was also critically undertaken to ensure participants have provided lived experiences from their perspective. With the thick description of the data gathered, there was no need for triangulation with the ES providers as originally planned. Nevertheless, the audit trail was part of the process documentation on various stages in the study. Ultimately, this enhanced the research dependability.

Confirmability

Confirmability in the qualitative study, as suggested in Moon et al. (2016), provides the guide for detailed documentation of the processes completed by the researcher to facilitate replication of the study. Reflexibility is applied to ensure confirmability was reached in the study. I wrote a detailed journal of my personal biases and all noted participant's data gathering interactions. The accurate documentation of participant's behaviors ensures the replication of the study by future researchers. Detailed documentation of each participant's answers and member checking ensured an accurate description of the productivity and well-being experiences of the Canadian automotive dealership accountants when the ES is nonusable.

Results

From the narrations of the 16 participants, the first cycle coding generated 12 descriptive themes. Then, moving to the second cycle coding and analyzing the connectedness codes to the unique pattern of the theme representation (Miles et al., 2018), themes with similar connotations were merged together. Eventually, it was reduced to the six final themes, as shown in Table 2 with the textual elements, that elucidate from the transcendental-phenomenological reduction as prescribed in the modified SCK data analysis method (see Figure 5).

Table 3

Elements	Unique	Points in
	participants	perception of
	(N /16)	significance
	А	В
ES/DMS support	15	28.05
Job demands for accountants	11	21.95
Importance of training	8	23.17
Limited features/providers slow to improve	5	12.20
Setup and configuration	5	9.76
Proactive approach	4	4.88

Final Themes with Unique Participants and Related Frequencies

These themes answered the research question: What are the lived experiences of Canadian automotive dealership accountants that relate to their productivity and wellbeing when the ES is nonusable? To give a vivid view of the significance of the theme, the invariant horizons (Moustakas, 1994), which was translated in this study as the frequency or the number of times the narrations related to the theme were mentioned by the participants in all their analyzed documents, is presented in Table 3, Column B. The number with more than the unique number of participants manifested that the participants mentioned the perception related to the theme more than ones. The epitome of the theme, as shown in Figure 6, depicted their significance in the experiences of the participants.

With transcendental phenomenology, suggested in Moustakas (1994) and synthetically expounded in Sheehan (2014), as applied in this study, the thematized lived experiences of the participants with its textual element as shown in Table 2, provided the *noema* or the meaning of the participants' experiences; the objective dimensions of the content of the intentional experiences of the participants (Husserl, 1931). The corresponding frequencies as depicted in Table 3, and the significance of the theme as experienced by the participants, visually depicted in Figure 6, presents the *noesis*, as the subjective views in an intentional experience of the participants (Husserl, 1931); the phenomenological transcendence from the experience of the participants (Moustakas, 1994); the picture beyond the shadow at the façade of the object (Sheehan, 2014).

Figure 6





Theme 1: ES/DMS Support

The significance of ES/DMS support in the perception of the participants garnered 28.05 points on the perception of significance, as shown in Figure 3. This was coming from the 15 out of 16 participants who narrated their lived experiences on the phenomenon around this theme. In this theme, the 28.05 points on the perception of significance signified that the statements related to the theme had been repeated by the participants multiple times. This showed how important the things and processes related to ES/DMS support when the participants are experiencing nonusability issues of their DMS ES. There were mixed experiences shared by the participants around this theme. There were participants who expressed their positive or good experiences, and there were other participants who expressed negative or bad experiences of their ES/DMS support. The following are the narration from the selected participants with DMS + brand representation from 1 to 4.

Positive Experience Narration from Selected Participants

Participant CL. "With the many deadlines that apply within the dealership, any delay in executing a task can be stressful, but for the most part, I have been fortunate and haven't experienced many delays due to good support."

Participant JG. In expressing satisfaction with their DMS1 support said, "it can be very stressful under a tight deadline; however, I have found that our DMS1 support help has been outstanding."

Participant KP. "For the most part, I am happy with the system we used, and the service we got from the help team is great, so it makes it easier when there are issues."

Participant SH2. In expressing satisfaction with the DMS2 support said, "I feel that our DMS2 is not the best for accounting, but I do love their amazing support help. It is rare to have issues, and they are quick to assist if we do." Expressing fortunate of their DMS4 support.

Mixed Good and Bad Experience from Selected Participants

Participant CA. Concurrently using DMS2 and DMS3 in the two dealerships, expressed the contrasting perception of each DMS support, with DMS2, the narrated

perception was "They are quick to figure out the problem," while for DMS3, "they are very slow and there is lack of effective communication."

Participant RS. Having used DMS1 in the past and now used DMS2, expressed the contrasting experience of DMS1 support in the past and their current DMS2 support he said, "my experience with DMS1 and DMS2 is night and day, DMS2 comes across like more about customer service, in general DMS2 has reduced my stress."

Bad Experience Narration from Selected Participants

Participant MS. Who lamented that the support team response time is very long, said, "as of the writing of this survey, I still have 5 open tickets that haven't addressed yet." Then, he added, "my frustration is in the follow-up process."

Participant SA. Who had a similar experience too in dealing with DMS support, said that "I just had sent in a case the other day and even though it said that the support person would be with me shortly, it took 2 to 2 1/2 hours before they responded to the web chat."

Participant JW. Who just took over the function of a controller, without formal training in accounting, said, "very stressful, especially when you have to do lots of things due to DMS issue in addition to the usual accounting things, but calling support is not helpful at all."

Participant KT. When talking about situations that support delays the work to be done, said "this requires me to call in and let them take over my computer, basically making me unable to do any other functionality of my job." Participant IW. "Even more stressful is working with an agent that is not familiar with the direct problem and needs to look into it further, which causes further delays and more stress."

Theme 2: Job Demands for Accountants

In any organization, accountants are subjected to rigorous job demands (Del Pozo-Antúnez et al., 2018). In this study, 11 out of 16 participants narrated their perception of the effect of ES nonusability on the demands of their jobs. The theme had been mentioned in the coded documents of all participants up to 21.95 times in all their documents. This a manifestation that almost twice of the time, the participant narrated their experiences on the significance of their job demands when the ES they used is nonusable. The effect on their productivity and well-being is mostly related to the major issues of nonusability. Nevertheless, of minor issues, it counts very minimally in their perception.

The Narrations from the Selected Participants

Participant IR. Who had been in the accounting career for 12 years before the dealership also narrated on this theme, said: "It is nerve-wracking when something doesn't go according to plan." Then, this participant added further, "most of the nonusability issues that affected my productivity and stress level have happened at month-end when the time to submit financials was due."

Participant JW. In narrating about this theme in relation to productivity when their DMS is not working said, "It definitely affects productivity due to the extra time we use up fixing these things."

Participant KP. Who handles accounts receivable and payables, narrated around this theme, that "when the system doesn't work, it definitely does slow down your productivity and heighten your stress, especially if you are on a time-sensitive task."

Participants KT. Who is a very experienced accountant even before being a controller in the dealership said, "this is stressful as owners are often asking the reason why."

Participant LM. Who had been in the position for 12 years expressed this theme, saying, "very high stress due to long hours, unknown methods, fear of things not being accurate. It was hard on my sleep and mental state."

Participant RS. In talking about the satisfaction on their, DMS said, "my stress level was very high, but no effect on my well-being due to how our DMS support dealt with the situation."

Participant SA. In narrating about the hindrance to productivity of the job demand of an accountant said, "it really bothers me a lot, especially now that it is adding to my anxiety related to COVID."

Participant SH1. A controller with 6 years of experience who handled two dealerships said, "I have experienced some delays in being able to meet my deadlines here and there when the financial statement doesn't balance." Then added that "if executives are waiting for reports, it can be very stressful, as you were the one they're waiting for."

Participant EJ. "I am not stressed at all, especially in minor issues."

Participant IW. "Sometimes the issues are minor and not an inconvenience, but when it's a bigger problem or if the system is down, it does cause issues."

Theme 3: Importance of Training

Out of the 16 participants, eight of them expressed their perception of the importance of training in using the DMS to mitigate the situation of nonusability. This theme confirmed the suggestion in Reitsma and Hilletofth (2018), which was indicated in Almajali et al. (2016), nonusability ES, being adapted by an organization. The nine participants had expressed their perception about the need for training on how to use the features of their DMS they need to use in their tasks.

Quoted Narrations from Selected Participants

Participant IW. In trying to explore to generate a needed report, lamented, "it took us almost a full day to try and figure out how to print a simple Parts Invoice."

Participant JW. Having no formal training in accounting, expressed in saying, "just a little training and it is very hard especially that I don't have done accounting before."

Participant KP. In speaking the initial, they are doing due to the absence of training, said: "I am still learning more about the system."

Participant LM. "We had a very rough conversion with little training, so I hated the new system."

Participant KT. Narrated lengthily about it:

I find it frustrating that they are unable to explain to me why the various service and parts reports do not match the financial statements; nor can they explain to me why there is a time lag in the reports nor when they will be accurate.

Participant RS. In speaking of the minimal DMS, the problem said, "Yes, the DMS2 provider gave us a fair amount of training."

Participant SH1. "I would say there are more issues around training and learning how to use the software than there are issues with the functionality of the DMS system."

Theme 4: Limited Features/Providers Slow to Improve

This theme caught the attention of the five participants out of the 16 who participated in the study. They were forced to adapt to what the DMS provider had made available as the feature of the system rather than what they need. The narration of the participants in this theme confirmed the indication in Spahn et al. (2018) that ES nonusability is also caused by the users being forced to use what the system does rather than what the user needs. The "Providers Slow to Improve" could be a subtheme. However, as the narrations of the participants a joined together, this is linked to the limited features it is combined into one theme.

Narrations from Selected Participants

Participant CA. "I do not prefer the system at all. It is too antiquated and not up for trying to improve while waiting for a fix to sometimes being told that's how the system works."

Participant JW. "we have been told it cannot be fixed or set up the way we need it to in their system."

Participant SA. "I just find that sometimes when I want to execute something but not sure what the function should be called, the search is not always the easiest to find the answers in." Participant SA added, "the system is not being able to reproduce schedules (GL account reports), at whatever date I want."

Theme 5: Setup and Configuration

The narration related to setup and configuration was shared by five participants. They expressed their perception of this theme as one of the causes of nonusability. This relates to computer hardware, software, and network configuration.

Quoted Narration from Selected Participants

Participant IW. "We have custom reports that we work from every day – those weren't set up in the testing system, so we couldn't use those."

Participant KT. "It has only caused me issues a handful of times, and mostly they have been related to power or internet provider issues. Reports wise - the system does not have good parts reporting, as far as background setups."

Participant KP. "It has only caused me issues a handful of times, and mostly they have been related to power or internet provider issues."

Theme 6: Proactive Approach

Four out of 16 participants narrated how they manage issues of their DMS nonusability through a proactive approach. Their proactive approach varies from manual adjustments to using other tools like MS Excel spreadsheets. This proactive approach also includes figuring out the features of the systems by themselves.

Narration from Four Participants

Participant MS. In narrating about situations of nonusability said, "I address those gaps by using supporting tools such as spreadsheet software."

Participant JW. In talking about the approach, they applied in situations of their DMS nonusability, narrated saying, "It is not so bad now, as I know what the usability issues are and know what we need to manually adjust ourselves."

Participant IR. In talking about the processing of vehicle sales, narrated saying, "we have a very proactive approach, so we know which deals will cause issues."

Participant IW. In talking about the success of their approach in situations of DMS, nonusability was narrated, saying, "We were finally able to figure some things out on our own."

Summary

This chapter contained a detailed discussion of the conduct of the study. It included the detailed analysis of the life experiences of 16 dealership accountants and personnel with accounting functions, from administrative assistants to controllers. The intent of this chapter was to describe the process used to answer the research question on What are the lived experiences of Canadian automotive dealership accountants that relate to their productivity and well-being when the ES is nonusable? Six open-ended questions aided in exploring the participants' experiences. The participants' in-depth responses contained their rich experiences.

The data collected, as well as the in-depth analysis using the modified SCK, generated six themes that were related to the research question and the conceptual

framework of the study. The themes, (a) ES/DMS support, (b) job demands for accountants, (c) importance of training, (d) limited features, (e) setup and configuration, and (f) proactive approach. A more in-depth discussion on the interpretations and findings of the study, including the implications to social change, limitations, the recommendation for future research, and conclusion, will be discussed in Chapter 5. Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

The adaption of an ES can spur an acute need to align IT strategies with specific business operations (Hinkelmann et al., 2016; Kahre et al., 2017) to add value to an organization (Bhattacharya, 2016). However, instead of alignment, with the high failure rates of ES adaptation (Saxena et al., 2016), nonusability occurs, which hinders user productivity (Fitrani et al., 2019; Sadiq & Pirhonen, 2017; Yassien et al., 2017). While scholars have studied this phenomenon in different industries, no study has been conducted on ES failure and the effects on accountants in the automotive dealership industry.

The purpose of this qualitative transcendental phenomenological study was to explore and understand the lived experiences of productivity and well-being among Canadian automotive dealership accountants when a failure occurs, causing ES nonusability. After analysis of the data gathered from the participants in this study, themes identified were the significance of ES/DMS support, the rigor of accountants' job demands, the importance of training, the need for ES features useful for their job, and the need for good setup and configuration. To fulfill deliverables and to meet job demands, some participants have been engaged in a proactive approach to mitigate any system failures and to achieve deliverables on time. This chapter includes an introduction, interpretation of findings, limitations, recommendations, implications, and conclusion.

Interpretation of Findings

This study exhibits considerable conformity with current research in other industries that ES nonusability hinders productivity (Fitrani et al., 2019) and affects the
well-being of users (Bailey & Seymour, 2017; Grīnberga, 2016; Laumer et al., 2016). The focus of this study was to explore the lived experiences of Canadian dealership accountants related to productivity and well-being when confronted with ES nonusability. On the degree of ES failures (Saxena et al., 2016), the results of this study indicate varying degrees of failures experienced by the accountants in the automotive dealership of Canada and ES nonusability.

All participants, regardless of their accounting experiences outside or inside the dealership, narrated lived experiences related to productivity and well-being when confronted with ES nonusability. Except for one participant, who had influence in the adaptation of their new ES, most participants started in their job with an ES already in place. This holds true with other findings that ES users are forced to adapt to how the system works rather than the system adapting to how things should be processed and done by the users (Spahn et al., 2018). This contributes to the nonusability of an ES, aggravated by an absence of proper training in ES use.

An analysis of the data gathered revealed seven themes: (a) ES/DMS support, (b) job demands for accountants, (c) importance of training, (d) limited features/providers slow to improve, (e) setup and configuration, and (f) proactive approach. In the following section, I discuss how the findings confirm and extend the previous research discussed in Chapter 2.

Figure 7

Link from the Conceptual Framework to the Themes



Findings Conceptual Framework, and Theories

In Chapter 2, I described the components of the TE-DF model as shown in Figure 1. TE-DF comprises the components of productivity and well-being framed by the philosophy of the utilitarian account in Griffin (1988), which relates to the use of features of an ES in the execution of accountants' tasks. This use relates to the fulfillment of accountants' job demands (Del Pozo-Antúnez et al., 2018). Synthesized into the JD-R model in Bakker and Demrouti (2018), ES is a workplace resource with a utility for the execution of tasks and fulfillment of deliverables. At the base of the TE-DF model is the change management discipline responsible for the successes and failures of ES adaptation

(Altamony et al., 2016). The TD-EF model as the conceptual framework was paramount to exploring the lived experiences of Canadian dealership accountants related to their productivity and well-being when their ES is nonusable. The TE-DF model fits well to achieving the purpose and providing answers to the research question of this study grouped into themes. The connectedness of the themes to the conceptual framework as inferred from the participants' experiences is depicted in Figure 7.

Theme 1: ES/DMS Support

ES support was a theme of highest significance among the experiences shared by the participants in the study (see Table 3). This finding confirms what has been suggested on the importance of support to promote user satisfaction. Emphasizing the importance of ES support, Motwani (2017) suggested that users occupied a significant portion of the value of an ES in the business operation. Some textual descriptions from the narrative participants' experiences are shown in Table 2. The 28.3 points in the perception of significance, as shown in Table 3 and visually presented in Figure 6, show how important ES support is when the participants are experiencing ES nonusability issues.

Griffin (1988) suggested the consideration of the utilitarian accounts of mental state as the foundation in defining well-being. This is the pleasure in the absence of pain applied in the utility of a tool used by a person. This philosophy spurs the elements of productivity and well-being in the fulfillment of job demands of participants using an ES. In the TE-DF model, the elements of productivity and well-being, job demands, and ES nonusability provided the vehicle to answer the research question. In the JD-R theory in Bakker and Demrouti (2018), ES is a workplace resource needed in the execution of tasks and fulfillment of deliverables. When an ES is nonusable, it hinders productivity (Fitrani et al., 2019; Sadiq & Pirhonen, 2017), causing stress and well-being issues for users (Grīnberga, 2016). Bailey and Seymour (2017) found a similar effect among employees in sub-Saharan companies using ES. Liere-Netheler et al. (2017) found similar results among employees of engineering companies. This study revealed similar findings from the experiences of accountants in Canadian automotive dealerships amid the rigor of their job demands (Del Pozo-Antúnez et al., 2018). ES nonusability causes stress affecting their well-being. The outcome also confirmed Davison et al. (2018) on the role of IT experts to provide support to ES users to avoid nonusability.

There were mixed experiences shared by the participants around this theme. Some participants expressed positive or good experiences. Other participants expressed frustration when dealing with ES support, indicating it was even more stressful and a deterrent to productivity when dealing with a support agent unfamiliar with the system (Participant IW). From the data gathered, this confirms similar studies conducted in other industries; Fitrani et al. (2019) indicated that ES nonusability hinders productivity and affects the health and well-being of users (Grīnberga, 2016). This is felt by accountants as they are subjected to rigorous job demands (Del Pozo-Antúnez et al., 2018). The answers from the participants were explored as framed by the conceptual framework.

Constant change is needed for constant alignment of IT and business strategies (Hinkelmann et al., 2016; Kahre et al., 2017). Altamony et al. (2016) suggested that

change management has a significant role in the success and failure of ES adaptation. As change management includes ES provider experts, Davison et al. (2018) suggested that ES experts are responsible for ES usability. In contrast, several studies revealed stories of success and failure in ES adaption that resulted in its nonusability (Jenko & Roblek, 2016; Loonam et al., 2018). To mitigate nonusability, unproductivity, and well-being problems, Abu Ghazaleh et al. (2019) emphasized the support needed by users to fully use the ES, which begets satisfaction of the users and mitigates nonusability, thereby promote productivity and well-being. The significance of this theme, in this study, from the answers of the participants confirmed the importance that change management should undertake thorough planning in the implementation of change related to ES adaptation suggested in Voehl and Harrington (2017), that should include not just the business standpoint but most especially the needs of the system users. This includes strong delivery of ES support to mitigate nonusability, enhance productivity, and promote wellbeing among accountants using the ES.

Theme 2: Job Demands of Accountants

The job demand factor of accountants is a themed synthesis from the narratives of the experiences of the participants as they answered open-ended questions and follow-up questions. From the results of the study, 11 of 16 participants mentioned job demands related to the perception that relates to their productivity and well-being experiences when their ES is nonusable. With the 21.95 points perception significance, the participants mentioned more than one of the invariant constituents or meaning units of their experience (Moustakas, 1994) that relate to the theme in all their coded narrations. Business activities and transactions are pushed to accounting for the accountants to process the financial information of the business (Limanto et al., 2016). With the need for a rapid business decision-making process, the job demands of accountants have become more rigorous. This rigor (Del Pozo-Antúnez et al., 2018) necessitates the use of an ES to integrate departmental processes (Chang et al., 2019; Kamal et al., 2018). The adaptation of an ES in the business operations is believed to help reduce cost, enhance productivity, and support management decision-making (Abugabah, 2017; Haddara & Moen, 2017; Motwani & Sharman, 2016).

Figure 8

Job Demand Map of Accountants



This finding confirms the findings in Del Pozo-Antúnez et al. (2018) on the rigor of job demands of accountants; this theme is the ultimate point of the need for a functional ES (see Figure 9). Linking job demands amidst ES nonusability with the utilitarian philosophy in Griffin (1988), as depicted in Figure 1, the participants' hindered productivity (Fitrani et al., 2019) triggers stress, well-being, and health issues (Grīnberga, 2016). The productivity and well-being experiences were especially high on major issues happening during reporting deadlines, such as months' end reporting and regulatory reporting time. The theme suggests that change management discipline in ES adaptation should put more emphasis on how to provide better tools to the users' job demands.

Theme 3: Importance of Training

The importance of training is narrated by eight out of sixteen participants, which garnered 23.17 perception points, confirmed the indication in Motwani and Sharman (2016) of the need to train the users to know the ES functionality. This aspect was also implicated in Abu Ghazaleh et al. (2019), who suggested the appropriate training program in a post ES implementation to promote user satisfaction, and maximize the benefit of the ES adaptation, thereby maximizing the value of an ES and avoiding nonusability issues.

The importance of training as a theme from the answers of the participants, as shown in Figure 7, depicted the link of this theme from the TE-DF as a conceptual framework, as depicted in Figure 1. The utilitarian accounts' philosophy in Griffin (1988) projected the picture that training could promote the utility of the ES, where its utility contributes to the well-being of the user, the accountant participants in this study. From the JD-R model in Bakker and Demrouti (2018), this manifested the need for training for the ES users for them to get a better understanding of using the features or business functionality of an ES (Abu Ghazaleh et al., 2019; Motwani & Sharman, 2016). When proper training is provided to the user, it will promote user satisfaction (Abu Ghazaleh et al., 2019), solidify the job demand resource, and enhance the task execution and deliverable fulfillment of the users of an ES. In the change management aspect, Altamony et al. (2016) suggested the involvement of management in the user training factors to ensure a successful ES adaptation.

Theme 4: Limited Features

This theme was inferred from the experiences gathered from five out of sixteen participants. Although it only garnered 12.2 points in the significance of perception, this is something to be considered by the ES providers to provide a better ES to customers and users of their system. In this them, the participants lamented on the limited features of their ES and the ES providers' slowness of improving the features of their system. This theme relates to the suggestion in Davison et al. (2018) the role of the IT experts to mitigate the nonusability of the system, making sure the features should be useful by the users. Along this line of argument, Spahn et al. (2018) suggested that ES providers should make sure that their ES features should help the needs of the users.

With reference to the productivity and well-being definition from the utilitarian accounts' philosophy in Griffin (1988), the limited features of an ES could deter full utilization of an ES as a tool to perform the job demands of the participants, therefore hinders productivity and causing stress and well-being issues of the participants. In relation to the suggestion in Bakker and Demrouti (2018), these limited features of an ES diminished the need for a strong resource to execute users' tasks and fulfill their deliverables. Linking the theme to the change management in ES adaptation (Altamony et al., 2016), with the limited features, as suggested in Spahn et al. (2018), users are forced to use how the ES works, not on how the users should execute their tasks with the

ES functionalities, which causes nonusability and hindering productivity (Yassien et al., 2017) and triggers health and well-being issues of the users (Grīnberga, 2016).

Theme 5: Setup and Configuration

Setup and configuration were some of the themes inferred from the narratives of the participants. This theme was narrated by five out of eight participants, with 12.2 points perception of significance. The five participants who narrated their productivity and well-being experiences related to the setup and configuration of their ES are related to the demands of their job. Participant KT lamented that there are multiple reports that were not set up or configured properly, report timing issues affecting the reporting process. This experiential description confirmed the indication in Spahn et al. (2018) that users are forced to adapt the ES features rather than the ES to provide the users the tool in the execution of their tasks.

The participants' narratives about this theme, was paved by the utilitarian philosophy in Griffin (1988) with synthesis from the JD-R model in Bakker and Demrouti (2018) in the TE-DF as a conceptual framework in this study; extending the change management body of knowledge applied in the ES adaptation. This finding confirmed the suggestion in Del Pozo-Antúnez et al. (2018), the task execution and deliverable fulfillment of the participants are related to the rigor of the job demands of the accountants. Supported of the indication in Motwani (2017), an improper setup or configured system can deter employee performance, while proper setup and configuration could avoid ES nonusability. Change management, as the responsible discipline in the successful adaptation of an ES (Altamony et al., 2016), should make sure the proper setup and configuration of an ES to support the job demands of the users facilitating the execution of their task and the fulfillment of their deliverables.

Theme 6: Proactive Approach

The proactive approach, as a theme from the narratives of the participant's experiences, was expressed by four out of 16 participants, with 4.88 points on their perceived significance. The participants did whatever it takes to be able to execute their tasks and fulfill their deliverables in times of ES nonusability. Some used Microsoft Excel and other tools to fulfill their deliverables, such as management and regulatory reports.

Griffin (1988) had indicated that the proactive approach relates to the natural tendency of human actions trying to overcome difficulties related to utility to achieve certain goals. In relation to the JD-R model in Bakker and Demrouti (2018), this is natural for the participants to do whatever it takes to overcome the resource scarcity they encounter. This finding confirmed the suggestion in Del Pozo-Antúnez et al. (2018) on the rigor of the job demands of accountants. Some of them, when confronted with the nonusability of their ES, instead of just lamenting on the effect on their productivity and well-being, did some other proactive options to execute their tasks and fulfill their deliverables.

Limitations of the Study

As previously indicated, I am also working as a controller in the automotive dealership, which is congruent with the phenomenological exploration in this study. Hence, a potential bias could occur, which may have potentially positive and negative implications for this study. The positive implication had given me, the researcher, to speak the same language and terminologies with the participants. However, the potential negative implication is the possible impairment of hearing and interpreting the narratives of the participants. Therefore, to overcome my biases, I used the epoché approach in transcendental phenomenology, which is also emphasized in the SCK data analysis approach, for me to be able to decipher clearly every relevant expression from the participants with a pure transcendental ego as indicated in Moustakas (1994). Although I used the SCK data analysis method that helped me manage this bias through epoché or bracketing, reflexivity, thick descriptions, and transcript verification, my bias could have clouded the interpretation of the data, which is a potential limitation of the study.

Additionally, while this study contributes to the literature to further understand the productivity and well-being experiences of the accountants when the ES they were using is nonusable, the busy schedule of the participants, due to the rigor of their job demands (Del Pozo-Antúnez et al., 2018), made the 30 to 45 minutes semi-structured individual interview impossible. Although, around this limit, the online open-ended questions and follow-up questions via email replaced the dynamics of individual interviews, but provided the text of the narratives that do not need any further transcriptions, as the texts were typewritten directly by the participants themselves. Nevertheless, there could be more narratives and experiences shared when a personal interview was conducted.

The automotive dealerships in Western Canada are just a fraction of the overall automotive dealerships in Canada or around the world. Selecting only the accountants in Western Canada as the participants is a glaring limit to the study. Furthermore, the automotive dealership sector is just a fraction of many businesses adapting an ES to automate their business process (Chang et al., 2019; Comuzzi & Parhizkar, 2017; Kamal et al., 2018). In this context, there could have been much more experiences revealed when the study also included the accountants from the other sectors of business.

Recommendations

The adaptation of an ES in businesses was the response of a business organization to the rapid pace of competition in the digital business environment (Chang et al., 2019; Chou, 2018; Mahmood et al., 2019). The process of ES adaptation spurred an acute need to align the IT strategies with the specific business operation (Kahre et al., 2017) to add value to the organization (Bhattacharya, 2016). In this context, the management of an organization should select from among the many variations of ESs as described by Spahn et al. (2018). However, selecting the specific ES package from among the ES variants is daunting for the managers and leaders who are facing the complexities of technological disruption (Kuratko & Morris, 2018). Instead of alignment, the colossal ES adaptation failures had been reported (Chakravorty et al., 2016; Mahmood et al., 2019; Pabst et al., 2016; Saxena et al., 2016), which is causing an ES nonusability that hindered the productivity of the ES users (Fitrani et al., 2019; Sadiq & Pirhonen, 2017; Yassien et al., 2017), and causing stress and health issues on the users (Grīnberga, 2016).

Change management is responsible for the success of software system adaptation making the ES usable or failure causing ES nonusability (Altamony et al., 2016). There is a need for thorough planning to mitigate nonusability, which should involve both the business standpoint and, most especially, the needs of the users (Voehl & Harrington, 2017). Hence, Spahn et al. (2018) considered the users as the center of the change management activities of new software adaptation. Altamony et al. (2016) even suggested an announcement or campaign to the users about the changes that could happen in the adaptation of a new system. This is necessary to motivate user acceptance (Haddara & Moen, 2017), to easily gain the needed learning and mastery of the new system, thereby, enhance ES usability (Rezvani et al., 2017).

The findings of this study indicated in the six resulting themes that juxtaposed some major implications that could have been overlooked by the change managers in ES adaptation. The six themes indicated that there is a need for the ES vendors and providers to enhance their user support mechanism, should make sure that users are provided with the necessary training, ensure proper setup and configuration, and most especially, to ensure that the needs of the users in the execution of their task and the fulfillment of their deliverables should be served by their system. On the part of the accountants and users of an ES, they should also be proactive in using other available tools to mitigate nonusability and being able to fulfill their deliverables.

Through this research, I have provided insights on what are the experiences of Canadian automotive dealerships accountants that relate to their productivity and wellbeing when their ES is nonusable. As shown in Figure 8, their experiences revolve around the execution of their tasks and the fulfillment of their deliverables amidst the rigor of their job demands. The findings contributed to the baseline literature for future study, which could take many paths. The study outcome was congruent with the literature regarding the causes of ES adaptation and nonusability, which is affecting the productivity and well-being amidst the job demands of the users. In the literature review, some scholars explore the implementation aspects of an ES, while others focused their attention on the adaptation. In this study, six open-ended questions relative to the research questions were asked from the users. Additionally, some follow-up semistructured questions are also done via email to the participants. The questions are designed to gain understanding and explore the productivity and well-being experiences of the Canadian automotive dealerships accountants when their ES is nonusable. The participants in this study, in expressing the significance of ES support, the lack of good support, the stressful dealings with bad support, the need for training, setup, and configuration, the limited features, and proactive approach pointed to the rigor of their job demands as shown in Figure 8. From the study findings, the recommendation for future research are as follows:

- A research study that will explore and understand the better way for the ES providers to quickly respond and support the needs of their customers, amidst the peculiarities of each business organization, to overcome the limited features of their ES.
- An expansion of the study in the experiences of the accountants using an ES in the other industries.
- A deeper study on the users' personality and psychological attributes could explore who can handle easily or badly the high stress caused by ES nonusability.

• A further study using the synthesis of the utilitarian accounts' philosophy in Griffin (1988), with the job demand – resource theory of Bakker and Demerouti (2018) as a job demand – utilitarian resource (JD-UR), as a theory

Implications

The findings of this study, as it contributed to the change management discipline, applied in ES adaptation (Altamony et al., 2016), has the implications to the following:

- Institutional implication
- The implication to management practice
- Theoretical implication
- The implication to positive social change

Institutional Implications

My study has implications for informing schools and universities, with programs related to the curriculum for information systems or computer science, accounting, office administration, and digital literacy programs. The results of my study showed the need for accountants and admin professionals to be proactive instead of just waiting for the system support to execute their tasks and fulfill their deliverables. The insight from this outcome implied that educational institutions should develop curricular programs to prepare their graduates to use all the congruent tools around the ES being used in the workplace. Additionally, institutions that have the curricular program to prepare students to become IT experts are implicated that their program should include the ethics side of the IT profession. The sense of service should be inculcated to their students to put the service and care they provide to their clients and customers on top of personal preference

on how the systems work. These experts should be able to serve the need of their clients and customers on how their works should be executed by the system rather than forcing them to adapt what the IT professionals would want them to be.

The Implication to Management Practice

There are several implications for management practitioners that can be derived from my study. In this context, management practitioners are both the management and leadership of the organization and the ES vendors, providers, and expert IT consultants. The implication to management practice is coming from the life cycle in the ES adaptation. From the start of the planning phase in the change management process, considerations should be given a balanced approach between organizational needs and the needs of the users of the system (Spahn et al., 2018). The continuity and seamless transition from the legacy to the new system should be significantly considered without jeopardizing the job demands of the accountants. As suggested in Almajali et al. (2016) and in Reitsma and Hilletofth (2018), change management practitioners should make sure that training on the use of the ES system should be provided. This implicated that part of an on-boarding process for new employees in the accounting department should be thorough training on the usage of the ES used in the execution of the daily accounting tasks. In the revelation of the importance of ES support and limited features, ES providers, vendors, and consultants should strive to maintain and improve the level of support they provided to the clients using their system and the quickness to respond to the need of their clients.

Policy Implications

Well-being garnered significant attention not just in academia but also in public and private spheres of society (Thompson & Livingston, 2018). The implication of wellbeing in the workplace is under the auspices of workplace health and safety regulations. The stress-related findings of my study that confirmed what had been suggested in Grīnberga (2016), that enterprise nonusability, aside from hindering productivity in the workplace, also cause health issues. This demanded a great deal of attention on the part of the health and safety regulatory authorities to encourage health and safety training that should address the situation of ES nonusability, which could also hold ES providers accountable for any user health-related issues coming from their ES' nonusability. As the mandate of the health and safety authorities is coming from the laws of the nation, this implicated that health and safety laws and regulations should include the accountability of ES providers on health-related issues suffered by the users due to their ES nonusability.

Theoretical Implications

The absence of comprehensive study on human factors in the ES adaptation (Jenko & Roblek, 2016) left many avenues of research open on the life experiences of the accountants' using an ES. With the lack of empirical research in the automotive retail industry (Bellini et al., 2017), the outcome of this study provided several theoretical implications. The task execution—deliverable fulfillment (TE-DF) was confirmed to be useful to explore the productivity and well-being of accountants when their ES is nonusable. This framework could be added as a theoretical model to the JD-R theory in Bakker and Demerouti (2018) for any investigation related to the productivity and wellbeing of the ES users in relation to their job demands.

The study touched on the well-being that is linked to productivity, as indicated in Griffin (1988), from using ES as a workplace resource in Bakker and Demerouti (2018). This ES resource was adapted through the management of change in ES adaptation (Altamony et al., 2016). The synthetical incorporation of the utilitarian accounts' philosophy in Griffin (1988), in the utility from the absence of pain, into the JD-R theory (Bakker & Demerouti, 2018), ignited a potential baseline knowledge on the theory of JD-RU. This JD-RU could be studied further to be used as a baseline knowledge for future research in change management on the phenomena of employees' productivity and wellbeing in carrying their job demands through the resource utilization of any automation tools at the workplace.

Implications for Positive Social Change

The findings of my study may influence positive social change by encouraging dealerships management to provide some extra tools and help to their accountants when experiencing an ES nonusability. Additionally, the findings of my study may also provide more insights to ES providers, vendors, and consultants, to put the highest consideration into the well-being of their users by ensuring the productivity aspect through good support, proper training, appropriate setup and configuration, and features useful in the execution of the tasks of the accountants. Furthermore, while health issues related to ES nonusability are not currently taken into consideration in the workplace health and safety regulations, putting them in place may favorably change and improve the quality of life

of accountants and other ES users. As happiness or unhappiness at work affects the personal lives of workers (Joo & Lee, 2017) and personal lives also affect society (Maccagnan et al., 2019), the outcome of the study could potentially contribute an influence on positive social change, not just for individual ES users, but to society-at-large.

Conclusions

ES nonusability hindered users' productivity (Fitrani et al., 2019) and costing millions of dollars to businesses (Sadiq & Pirhonen, 2017). It affected the well-being and causing health issues to users (Grīnberga, 2016). This was very much experienced by the accountants in the automotive dealerships in Western Canada due to the rigor of the job demands for accountants (Del Pozo-Antúnez et al., 2018).

A plethora of literature exists on the topic of ES implementation and adaptation; they were more focused on the causes of success and failures. Nevertheless, the topic of productivity and the well-being of users has not been studied altogether. There were studies on productivity only or studies on well-being only. This study had focused on the lived productivity experiences of accountants when the ES they are using was nonusable. This study provided insights on the interconnectedness of productivity and well-being when ES is nonusable.

The literature used to gain more understanding about the phenomenon of this study and the literature that served as the foundation of the problem that paved the purpose of this study were considered in concluding the confirmation of the findings of this study to the literature. The study concluded that ES nonusability affects the productivity and well-being of accountants. However, the influence is dependent on the quality of support provided by the ES vendors and providers, the training provided to the user, appropriate setup and configuration, useful features of their system that should meet the needs of the users, rather than forcing the users to adapt to their ES features.

References

Abu Ghazaleh, M., Abdallah, S., & Zabadi, A. (2019). Promoting successful ERP postimplementation: A case study. *Journal of Systems and Information Technology*, 21(3), 325–346. https://doi.org/10.1108/JSIT-05-2018-0073

Abugabah, A. (2017). Enterprise systems: The quality of system outputs and their perceived business value. *Proceedings of the 19th International Conference on Enterprise Information Systems*, *3*, 338–342.
https://doi.org/10.5220/0006351203380342

- Almajali, D. A., Masa'deh, R., & Tarhini, A. (2016). Antecedents of ERP systems implementation success: A study on Jordanian healthcare sector. *Journal of Enterprise Information Management*, 29(4), 549–565. https://doi.org/10.1108/JEIM-03-2015-0024
- Almohri, H., Chinnam, R. B., & Colosimo, M. (2019). Data-driven analytics for benchmarking and optimizing the performance of automotive dealerships. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 213, 69–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2019.03.004
- Altamony, M., Tarhini, A., Al-Salti, Z., Gharaibeh, A., & Elyas, T. (2016). The relationship between change management strategy and successful enterprise resource planning (ERP) implementations: A theoretical perspective. *International Journal of Business Management and Economics Research*, 7(4), 690–703. https://tarjomefa.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/10/7912-English-TarjomeFa.pdf

Ammar, S. (2017). Enterprise systems, business process management and UK-management accounting practices: Cross-sectional case studies. *Qualitative Research in Accounting & Management*, 14(3), 230–281.
 https://doi.org/10.1108/QRAM-05-2016-0044

Andrianto, A. (2019). Impact of enterprise resource planning (ERP) implementation on user performance: Studies at University of Jember. *Journal of Physics: Conference Series, 1211*, 012040. https://doi.org/10.1088/1742-6596/1211/1/012040

- Appelbaum, D., Kogan, A., Vasarhelyi, M., & Yan, Z. (2017). Impact of business analytics and enterprise systems on managerial accounting. *International Journal* of Accounting Information Systems, 25, 29–44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.accinf.2017.03.003
- Asamoah, D., & Andoh-Baidoo, F. K. (2018). Antecedents and outcomes of extent of ERP systems implementation in the sub-Saharan Africa context: A panoptic perspective. *Communications of the Association for Information Systems*, 42, 581–601. https://doi.org/10.17705/1CAIS.04222
- Attaran, M., Attaran, S., & Kirkland, D. (2019). The need for digital workplace: Increasing workforce productivity in the information age. *International Journal of Enterprise Information Systems*, 15(1), 1–23.

https://doi.org/10.4018/IJEIS.2019010101

Badu, E., O'Brien, A. P., & Mitchell, R. (2019). An integrative review on methodological considerations in mental health research—Design, sampling, data collection procedure and quality assurance. *Archives Belges De Sante Publique*, 77, 37. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13690-019-0363-z

Bailey, L., & Seymour, L. F. (2017). Impact of ERP implementation on the quality of work life of users: A sub-Saharan African study. *The African Journal of Information Systems*, 9(3), 22.

https://digitalcommons.kennesaw.edu/ajis/vol9/iss3/3

- Bakker, A. B., & Demerouti, E. (2018). Multiple levels in job demands–resources theory: Implications for employee well-being and performance. In E. Diener, S. Oishi, & L. Tay (Eds.), *Handbook of well-being*. DEF Publishers. https://www.nobascholar.com/chapters/36/download.pdf
- Bellini, E., Dell'Era, C., Frattini, F., & Verganti, R. (2017). Design-driven innovation in retailing: An empirical examination of new services in car dealership. *Creativity* and Innovation Management, 26(1), 91–107. https://doi.org/10.1111/caim.12184
- Bennett, J. B., Weaver, J., Senft, M., & Neeper, M. (2017). Creating workplace wellbeing: Time for practical wisdom. In C. L. Cooper & J. C. Quick (Eds.), *The Handbook of Stress and Health* (pp. 570–604). John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118993811.ch35
- Bevan, N., Carter, J., Earthy, J., Geis, T., & Harker, S. (2016). New ISO standards for usability, usability reports and usability measures. In M. Kurosu (Ed.), *Human-Computer Interaction. Theory, Design, Development and Practice* (Vol. 9731, pp. 268–278). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-39510-4_25

Bhattacharya, P. (2016). Identifying four key means of business value creation using enterprise systems: An empirical study. *Journal of International Technology and Information Management*, 25(1), 21.

https://scholarworks.lib.csusb.edu/jitim/vol25/iss1/2

- Birt, L., Scott, S., Cavers, D., Campbell, C., & Walter, F. (2016). Member checking: A tool to enhance trustworthiness or merely a nod to validation? *Qualitative Health Research*, 26(13), 1802–1811. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732316654870
- Black, H., Greenberg, S., Saulsgiver, K., Sinar, E., Reece, A., Carr, E., & Kellerman, G. (2019). Beyond Hedonia: 5 keys to enhancing workplace well-being at scale. *American Journal of Health Promotion*, 33(8), 1212–1217.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/0890117119878277c
- Bowen, G. (2009). Naturalistic inquiry and the saturation concept: A research note. Sage. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794107085301
- Burkholder, G., J., Cox, K., A., & Crawford, L., M. (2016). *The scholar-practitioner's guide to research design*. Laureate Publishing.
- Burton, D. (2011). Quantitative data analysis. In *Research training for social scientists* (pp. 361–362). Sage. https://doi.org/10.4135/9780857028051
- Chakravorty, S. S., Dulaney, R. E., & Franza, R. M. (2016). ERP implementation failures: A case study and analysis. *International Journal of Business Information Systems*, 21(4), 462. https://doi.org/10.1504/IJBIS.2016.075256
- Chang, J. Y. T., Jiang, J. J., Klein, G., & Wang, E. T. G. (2019). Enterprise system programs: Goal setting and cooperation in the integration team. *Information &*

Management, 56(6), 103137. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.im.2018.12.005

- Chaudhry, S. (2018). Managing employee attitude for a successful information system implementation: A change management perspective. *Journal of International Technology and Information Management*, 27(1), 57–90.
 https://scholarworks.lib.csusb.edu/jitim/vol27/iss1/3
- Chou, P. (2018). Workplace social support and attitude toward enterprise resource planning system: A perspective of organizational change. *International Journal of Information Systems and Social Change*, 9(1), 58–76. https://doi.org/10.4018/IJISSC.2018010104
- Comuzzi, M., & Parhizkar, M. (2017). A methodology for enterprise systems postimplementation change management. *Industrial Management & Data Systems*, *117*(10), 2241–2262. https://doi.org/10.1108/IMDS-11-2016-0506
- Costa, C. J., Ferreira, E., Bento, F., & Aparicio, M. (2016). Enterprise resource planning adoption and satisfaction determinants. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 63, 659–671. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2016.05.090
- Crane, D. A. (2017). The fiction of locally owned mom and pop car dealers: Some data on franchised automobile distribution in the state of Michigan. SSRN Electronic Journal. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3000497
- Davison, R., Ou, C., & Ng, E. (2018). The professional responsibilities of ERP experts: A new form of organizational citizenship behaviour. *PA CIS 2018 Proceedings*, 22nd Pacific Asia Conference on Information Systems Yokohama, Japan. https://research.tilburguniversity.edu/en/publications/the-professional-

responsibilities-of-erp-experts-a-new-form-of-or

- Del Pozo-Antúnez, J. J., Ariza-Montes, A., Fernández-Navarro, F., & Molina-Sánchez, H. (2018). Effect of a job demand-control-social support model on accounting professionals' health perception. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 15(11). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph15112437
- Deloitte. (2018). 2018 Deloitte global automotive consumer. Deloitte. https://www2.deloitte.com/content/dam/Deloitte/ca/Documents/consumerbusiness/ca-2018-Global-Automation-Consumer-Study-AODA.pdf
- Demerouti, E., Bakker, A. B., Nachreiner, F., & Schaufeli, W. B. (2001). The job demands-resources model of burnout. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 86(3), 499– 512. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.86.3.499
- Dunay, A., & Turzai-Horanyi, B. (2019). Lifecycle of enterprises A case study of car dealerships in Hungary. Zeszyty Naukowe Politechniki Częstochowskiej Zarządzanie, 36(1), 34–44. https://doi.org/10.17512/znpcz.2019.4.03
- Eichhorn, B., & Tukel, O. (2018). Business user impact on information system projects. International Journal of Managing Projects in Business, 11(2), 289–316. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJMPB-02-2017-0016
- Erickson, F. (2012). Qualitative research methods for science education. In B. J. Fraser,
 K. Tobin, & C. J. McRobbie (Eds.), *Second International Handbook of Science Education* (pp. 1451–1469). Springer Netherlands. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4020-9041-7_93

Fernandes, S., & Fragoso, J. L. (2017). Information systems' portfolio: Contributions of

enterprise and process architecture. Journal of Spatial and Organizational

Dynamics, 5(3), 208–221. https://www.jsod-

cieo.net/journal/index.php/jsod/article/view/96

- Finlay, L. (2014). Engaging phenomenological analysis. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 11(2), 121–141. https://doi.org/10.1080/14780887.2013.807899
- Fitrani, Witjaksono, W. R., & Saputra, M. (2019). Reliability and usability analysis of the implementation ERP in host to host payment system: A case study. *International Conference on Engineering, Technology and Innovative Researches, 1367.*https://doi.org/10.1088/1742-6596/1367/1/012003
- Frankfort-Nachmias, C., & Leon-Guerrero, A. (2018). *Social statistics for a diverse society* (8th ed.). Sage.
- Giorgi, A. (2014). Phenomenological philosophy as the basis for a human scientific psychology. *The Humanistic Psychologist*, 42(3), 233–248. https://doi.org/10.1080/08873267.2014.933052
- Gollner, J. A., & Baumane-Vītoliņa, I. (2016). Measurement of ERP-project success:
 Findings from Germany and Austria. Engineering Economics. *Inzinerine Ekonomika-Engineering Economics*, 27(5), 498–508.
 https://doi.org/10.5755/j01.ee.27.5.13208
- Goretzki, L., Lukka, K., & Messner, M. (2018). Controllers' use of informational tactics. Accounting and Business Research, 48(6), 700–726. https://doi.org/10.1080/00014788.2017.1407627
- Griffin, J. (1988). Well-Being: Its meaning, measurement and moral importance.

Clarendon Press. https://philpapers.org/rec/GRIWIM

- Grīnberga, S. (2016). Software usability: Concepts, attributes and associated health problems. *Proceedings of the Latvian Academy of Sciences. Section B. Natural, Exact, and Applied Sciences.*, 70(5), 266–268. https://doi.org/10.1515/prolas-2016-0041
- Gullberg, C. (2016). What makes accounting information timely? *Qualitative Research in Accounting & Management, 13*(2), 189–215. https://doi.org/10.1108/QRAM-03-2014-0019
- Gurumoorthy, S. (2016). Design and implementation of computerizing the dealership management software. *Journal of Information Technology and Sciences*, 2(2). https://www.academia.edu/27805788/Design_and_Implementation_of_Computeri zing_the_Dealership_Management_Software
- Guzmán, S. A., Fóster, P. F., Ramírez-Correa, P., Grandón, E. E., & Alfaro-Perez, J. (2018). Information systems and their effect on organizational performance: An inquiry into job satisfaction and commitment in higher education institutions. *Journal of Information Systems Engineering & Management, 3*(4). https://doi.org/10.20897/jisem/3937
- Haddara, M., & Moen, H. (2017). User resistance in ERP implementations: A literature review. *Procedia Computer Science*, 121, 859–865. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procs.2017.11.111
- Hassan, M. K., & Mouakket, S. (2016). ERP and organizational change: A case study examining the implementation of accounting modules. *International Journal of*

Organizational Analysis, 24(3), 487–515. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJOA-05-2014-0760

Hinkelmann, K., Gerber, A., Karagiannis, D., Thoenssen, B., van der Merwe, A., &
Woitsch, R. (2016). A new paradigm for the continuous alignment of business
and IT: Combining enterprise architecture modelling and enterprise ontology. *Computers in Industry*, 79, 77–86. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compind.2015.07.009

Howell, K. (2013). An introduction to the philosophy of methodology. Sage.

Howson, A. (2019). Qualitative research methods (sociology). In *Salem Press Encyclopedia*. Great Neck Publishing.
https://ezp.waldenulibrary.org/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?
direct=true&db=ers&AN=95607471&site=eds-live&scope=site

Huang, L.-C., Ahlstrom, D., Lee, A. Y.-P., Chen, S.-Y., & Hsieh, M.-J. (2016). High performance work systems, employee well-being, and job involvement: An empirical study. *Personnel Review*, 45(2), 296–314. https://doi.org/10.1108/PR-09-2014-0201

Husserl, E. (1931). Ideas: General introduction to pure phenomenology. Routledge.

Jabareen, Y. (2009). Building a conceptual framework: Philosophy, definitions, and procedure. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 8(4), 49–62. https://doi.org/10.1177/160940690900800406

Janghorban, R., Latifnejad Roudsari, R., & Taghipour, A. (2013). Pilot study in qualitative research: The roles and values. *Hayat*, 19, 1–5. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/264416271

- Jenko, A., & Roblek, M. (2016). A primary human critical success factors model for the ERP system implementation. *Organizacija*, 49(3), 145–160. https://doi.org/10.1515/orga-2016-0014
- Joo, B.-K., & Lee, I. (2017). Workplace happiness: Work engagement, career satisfaction, and subjective well-being. *Evidence Based HRM; Bingley*, 5(2), 206– 221. https://doi.org/10.1108/EBHRM-04-2015-0011
- Kahn, R. L., & Juster, F. T. (2002). Well–being: Concepts and measures. *Journal of Social Issues*, 58(4), 627–644. https://doi.org/10.1111/1540-4560.00281
- Kahre, C., Hoffmann, D., & Ahlemann, F. (2017). Beyond business-IT alignment—
 Digital business strategies as a paradigmatic shift: A review and research agenda. *The 50th Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences, 10.*http://hdl.handle.net/10125/41736
- Kamal, M., Mostafa, N., & Lafy, A. K. (2018). The influence of enterprise resource planning (ERP) systems on apparel factories. *Al Manhal ELibrary*, 52–77. https://doi.org/10.12816/0045767
- Katsirikou, A., & Lin, C. S. (2017). Revealing the "essence" of things: Using phenomenology in LIS research. *Qualitative and Quantitative Methods in Libraries*, 2(4), 469–478. http://www.qqmljournal.net/index.php/qqml/article/view/123
- Khajouei, R., Ameri, A., & Jahani, Y. (2018). Evaluating the agreement of users with usability problems identified by heuristic evaluation. *International Journal of Medical Informatics*, 117, 13–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2018.05.012

- Kowalski, T. H. P., & Loretto, W. (2017). Well-being and HRM in the changing workplace. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 28(16), 2229–2255. https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2017.1345205
- Kunath, M., & Winkler, H. (2019). Usability of information systems to support decision making in the order management process. *Procedia CIRP*, 81, 322–327. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procir.2019.03.056
- Kuratko, D. F., & Morris, M. H. (2018). Corporate entrepreneurship: A critical challenge for educators and researchers. *Entrepreneurship Education and Pedagogy*, 1(1), 42–60. https://doi.org/10.1177/2515127417737291

La Torre, G., Esposito, A., Sciarra, I., & Chiappetta, M. (2019). Definition, symptoms and risk of techno-stress: A systematic review. *International Archives of Occupational and Environmental Health*, 92(1), 13–35. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00420-018-1352-1

Laumer, S., Maier, C., & Weitzel, T. (2016). The influence of change-related stress on user resistance when an enterprise system is implemented: A longitudinal field study. *Thirty Seventh International Conference on Information Systems, Dublin.* https://cris.fau.de/converis/portal/Publication/203525295?auxfun=&lang=en_GB

Lee, A. H. I., Chen, S.-C., & Kang, H.-Y. (2020). A decision-making framework for evaluating enterprise resource planning systems in a high-tech industry. *Quality Technology & Quantitative Management*, 17(3), 319–336. https://doi.org/10.1080/16843703.2019.1626073

Leedy, P. D., & Ormrod, J. E. (2015). Practical research planning and design. Pearson.

Lent, R. W., & Brown, S. D. (2008). Social cognitive career theory and subjective wellbeing in the context of work. *Journal of Career Assessment*, 16(1), 6–21. https://doi.org/10.1177/1069072707305769

Liere-Netheler, K., Vogelsang, K., Hoppe, U., & Steinhüser, M. (2017). Towards the user: Extending the job characteristics model to measure job satisfaction for ERP based workplaces – a qualitative approach. *CONF-IRM 2017 Proceedings, 37*. https://aisel.aisnet.org/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1036&context=confirm2017

Limanto, C. J., Dewi, L. P., & Wibowo, A. (2016). Application architecture of car automobile dealers using enterprise architecture planning (EAP). *IOSR Journal of Computer Engineering*, *18*(04), 49–53.

https://www.academia.edu/26851542/Application_Architecture_of_Car_Automob ile_Dealers_Using_Enterprise_Architecture_Planning_EAP

Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. G. (1985). Naturalistic Inquiry. Sage.

- Loonam, J., Kumar, V., Mitra, A., & Abd Razak, A. (2018). Critical success factors for the implementation of enterprise systems: A literature review. *Strategic Change*, 27(3), 185–194. https://doi.org/10.1002/jsc.2194
- Maccagnan, A., Wren-Lewis, S., Brown, H., & Taylor, T. (2019). Wellbeing and society: Towards quantification of the co-benefits of wellbeing. *Social Indicators Research*, 141(1), 217–243. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11205-017-1826-7
- Madapusi, A. (2019). Organizational practices, enterprise systems, and firm performance. Journal of Management Policy & Practice, 20(5), 28–41. https://www.proquest.com/openview/

Mahdavian, M., Wingreen, S. C., & Ghlichlee, B. (2016). The influence of key users' skills in ERP success. *Journal of Information Technology Management*, 23(2), 17.
https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/2631/cca488b52681bd1326107b65574ea5939c5e

.pdf

- Mahmood, F., Khan, A. Z., & Bokhari, R. H. (2019). ERP issues and challenges: A research synthesis. *Kybernetes*, 49(30), 629-659. https://doi.org/10.1108/K-12-2018-0699
- Market Research Future. (2020, May). ERP Software Market Research Report- Forecast 2023 [Web post]. https://www.marketresearchfuture.com/reports/erp-software-market-1412
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. B. (2016). *Designing Qualitative Research*. Sage.
- Mauthner, N. S., & Doucet, A. (2003). Reflexive accounts and accounts of reflexivity in qualitative data analysis. *Sociology*, *37*(3), 413–431. https://doi.org/10.1177/00380385030373002
- Maxwell, J. A. (2012). *Qualitative research design: An interactive approach*. Sage.
- Merriam, S. B., & Tisdell, E. J. (2016). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation* (4th ed.). John Wiley & Sons.
- Miles, M. B., Huberman, A. M., & Saldaña, J. (2018). Qualitative Data Analysis: A Methods Sourcebook. Sage.
- Miller, J. (2016). The well-being and productivity link: A significant opportunity for research-into-practice. *Journal of Organizational Effectiveness*, *3*(3), 289–311.

https://doi.org/10.1108/JOEPP-07-2016-0042

- Mitra, P., & Mishra, S. (2016). Behavioral aspects of ERP implementation: A conceptual review. *Interdisciplinary Journal of Information, Knowledge, and Management,* 11, 17–30. http://doi.org/10.28945/3402
- Moon, K., Brewer, T., Januchowski-Hartley, S., Adams, V., & Blackman, D. (2016). A guideline to improve qualitative social science publishing in ecology and conservation journals. *Ecology and Society*, 21(3). https://doi.org/10.5751/ES-08663-210317

Morse, J. M. (1994). Critical issues in qualitative research methods. Sage.

Morse, J. M. (2015). Critical analysis of strategies for determining rigor in qualitative inquiry. *Qualitative Health Research*, 25(9), 1212–1222. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732315588501

- Motwani, B. (2017). Impact of resources in enterprise resource planning (ERP).
 Implementation Process on Internal Process of an Organization, 18(1), 6.
 https://www.amity.edu/abs/abr/pdf/Vol%2018%20No.1/7.pdf
- Motwani, B., & Sharman, R. K. (2016). A study on the effect of enterprise resource planning (ERP) on people of an organization. *Journal of Technology Management for Growing Economies*, 7(1), 73–84.
- Moustakas, C. (1994). *Phenomenological research methods*. Sage. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781412995658
- Nauman, S., Raja, U., Haq, I. U., & Bilal, W. (2019). Job demand and employee wellbeing: A moderated mediation model of emotional intelligence and surface acting.

Personnel Review, 48(5), 1150–1168. https://doi.org/10.1108/PR-04-2018-0127

- Nielsen, K., Nielsen, M. B., Ogbonnaya, C., Känsälä, M., Saari, E., & Isaksson, K.
 (2017). Workplace resources to improve both employee well-being and performance: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Work & Stress*, *31*(2), 101– 120. https://doi.org/10.1080/02678373.2017.1304463
- Nowell, L. S., Norris, J. M., White, D. E., & Moules, N. J. (2017). Thematic analysis: Striving to meet the trustworthiness criteria. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 16(1), 160940691773384. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406917733847
- Pabst, B., Casas, A., & Chinta, R. (2016). Empirical lessons from failure of ERP systems in small and medium businesses. *Southern Business & Economic Journal*, 39(1), 25–50.
- Patton, M. Q. (2006). New directions in mixed methods research. *Mid-South Educational Research Association*, 13(1).
- Plano Clark, V. L., & Ivankova, N. V. (2016). *Mixed methods research: A guide to the field*. Sage.
- Polit, D. F., & Beck, C. T. (2008). *Nursing research: Generating and assessing evidence for nursing practice*. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.
- Rädiker, S., & Kuckartz, U. (2020). Focused analysis of qualitative interviews with MAXQDA. MAXQDA Press. https://www.maxqdapress.com/catalog/books/focused-analysis-of-qualitative-interviews-with-

maxqda/download

Rahman, M. S. (2017). The advantages and disadvantages of using qualitative and
quantitative approaches and methods in language "testing and assessment" research: A literature review. *Journal of Education and Learning*, *6*(1), 102–112. https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1120221

- Ravitch, S. M., & Carl, N. M. (2016). *Qualitative research: Bridging the conceptual, theoretical, and methodological.* Sage.
- Reitsma, E., & Hilletofth, P. (2018). Critical success factors for ERP system implementation: A user perspective. *European Business Review*, 30(3), 285–310. https://doi.org/10.1108/EBR-04-2017-0075
- Rezvani, A., Dong, L., & Khosravi, P. (2017). Promoting the continuing usage of strategic information systems: The role of supervisory leadership in the successful implementation of enterprise systems. *International Journal of Information Management*, 37(5), 417–430. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2017.04.008
- Roy, P. K., Mahmud, I., Jahan, N., & Sadia, F. (2017). An investigation on exhaustion of SAP ERP users: Influence of pace of change and technostress. *Annals of Emerging Technologies in Computing*, 1(1), 19–25.

https://doi.org/10.33166/AETiC.2017.01.003

Sadiq, M., & Pirhonen, A. (2017). Finding usability problems in ERP application help and end-user training material. The 11th International Conference on Interfaces and Human Computer Interaction. https://jyx.jyu.fi/handle/123456789/56389

Saldaña, J. (2016). The coding manual for qualitative research (3rd ed.). Sage.

Saxena, D., Dempsey, B., & McDonagh, J. (2016). Beyond the one-dimensional construct of failure: The curious case of enterprise resource systems failure rates. UKAIS Conference 2016. Oxford.

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/301552340_Beyond_the_Onedimensional_Construct_of_Failure_The_Curious_Case_of_Enterprise_System_Fa ilure_Rates?amp%3BenrichSource=Y292ZXJQYWdlOzMwMTU1MjM0MDtB Uzo0MDc5ODg3NDY2MzczMTVAMTQ3NDI4MzUwNTgyMA%3D%3D&am p%3Bel=1_x_2&%3B_esc=publicationCoverPdf

- Scholtz, B., M., Mahmud, I., & T., R. (2016). Does usability matter? An analysis of the impact of usability on technology acceptance in ERP settings. Interdisciplinary *Journal of Information, Knowledge, and Management, 11*, 309–330. https://doi.org/10.28945/3591
- Seethamraju, R. C., & Coyte, R. (2019). Technology frames, accountants and ERP systems use. *Twenty-Fifth Americas Conference on Information Systems*, *10*.
- Sheehan, S. (2014). A conceptual framework for understanding transcendental phenomenology through the lived experiences of biblical leaders. *Emerging Leadership Journeys*, 7(1), 10–20.

https://www.regent.edu/acad/global/publications/elj/vol7iss1/2ELJ-Sheehan.pdf

- Simatupang, T., Govindaraju, R., & Amaranti, R. (2016). Change management perspectives in an ERP module implementation: A case study in a telecommunication company. *Jurnal Teknik Industri*, 1(51). https://doi.org/10.9744/jti.18.1.51-62
- Simon, M. K., & Goes, J. (2013). Assumptions, limitations, delimitations, and scope of the study. In *Dissertation and Scholarly Research: Recipes for Success*.

Dissertation Success LLC. https://ders.es/limitationscopedelimitation1.pdf

- Smith, J. A., Flowers, P., & Larkin, M. (2009). Interpretative phenomenological analysis: Theory, method and research. Sage.
- Spahn, M., Dax, J., Yetim, F., & Pipek, V. (2018). Enabling users of enterprise systems to mash up resources and develop widgets. *Oxford University Press*, 421-444. https://doi.org/10.1093/oso/9780198733249.003.0014
- Suhaimi, N. S. A., & Nawawi, A. (2016). Impact of enterprise resource planning on management control system and accountants' role. *Int. Journal of Economics and Management*, 10(1), 93–108.

http://www.ijem.upm.edu.my/vol10no1/IJEM%20(06)%20Rev1%20Impact%20o f%20Enterprise%20Resource%20Planning%20on%20Management%20Control% 20System%20and%20Accountants'%20Role.pdf

- Suri, H. (2011). Purposeful sampling in qualitative research synthesis. *Qualitative Research Journal*, 11(2), 63–75. https://doi.org/10.3316/QRJ1102063
- Thompson, N., & Livingston, W. (2018). Promoting well-being. *Illness, Crisis & Loss*, 26(2), 98–110. https://doi.org/10.1177/1054137316643445
- Van Manen, M. (2016). *Researching lived experience: Human science for an action sensitive pedagogy*. Routledge.
- Voehl, F., & Harrington, H. J. (2017). *Change management: Manage the change or it will manage you*. Taylor & Francis Group.
- Vogt, P. W., Vogt, E. R., Gardner, D. C., & Haeffele, L. M. (2014). Selecting the right analysis for your data: Quantitative, qualitative, and mixed methods. The

Guilford Press.

- Webster, L., & Mertova, P. (2007). Using narrative inquiry as a research method: An introduction to using critical even narrative analysis in research on learning and teaching. Routledge.
- Whittemore, R., Chase, S. K., & Mandle, C. L. (2001). Validity in qualitative research. *Sage*, *11*(4), 16. https://doi.org/10.1177/104973201129119299
- Yassien, E., Masadeh, R., Moflih, M., Alrowwad, A., & Masa'deh, R. (2017). The impact of ERP system's usability on enterprise resource planning project implementation success via the mediating role of user satisfaction. *Journal of Management Research*, 9(3), 49–71. https://doi.org/10.5296/jmr.v9i3.11186
- Yüksel, P., & Yıldırım, S. (2015). Theoretical frameworks, methods, and procedures for conducting phenomenological studies in educational settings. *Turkish Online Journal of Qualitative Inquiry*, 6(1). https://dergipark.org.tr/en/download/articlefile/199867

Appendix A: Initial Study Announcement

Inviting:

Automotive Dealership Controllers, Accountants, and Accounting staff to participate in the study on their experiences on Dealership Enterprise System / Dealership Management System (DMS) failure or nonusability.

Appendix B: Official Participation Consent in the Research Study

CONSENT FORM

You are invited to participate in a study that proposes to reveal how situations of failure or nonusability of DMS affects productivity and well-being of controllers, accountants, accounting or admin staff handling accounting tasks and deliverables in the Canadian Auto dealership. The study outcome could also uncover other things for possible improvement of the working conditions of accountants and accounting or admin staff in the dealerships.

This form is part of a process called "informed consent" to allow you to understand this study before deciding whether to take part or not.

This study is being conducted by Manuel Felicio who is a doctoral student at Walden University.

Background Information:

The purpose of this study is to explore and describe the lived experiences on productivity and well- being of the Canadian automotive dealerships accountants when a failure occurs, causing enterprise system nonusability

Procedures:

This study involves the following steps:

- 1. Online interactive open-ended questions or via email or virtual interview via phone or your preferred social media platform such as Zoom, Skype, Google Meet, Face Book Messenger or WhatsApp, which will take about 45 minutes.
- 2. A follow up communication may be needed to clarify your answers or statements via email or phone or your preferred social media platform as Zoom, Skype, Google Meet, Face Book Messenger or WhatsApp which may take about 15 minutes.

Here are some sample questions:

1. How often you experience failure or glitches with your DMS or something you need to do or produce that cannot be provided by your DMS, making the system non-usable, preventing you to execute your task at hand?

2. Can you please describe how the situations of nonusability of the system affects your productivity and stress level? If any, please describe its effect to your emotional and physical well-being, you may include the reason why.

Voluntary Nature of the Study:

Research should only be done with those who freely volunteer and there is no compensation in participating in the study. So, everyone involved will respect your decision to join or not and you may stop at any time. The researcher seeks to recruit 12 volunteers for this study, or until the data saturation is achieved.

Risks and Benefits of Being in the Study:

Being in this study could involve some risk of the minor discomforts that can be encountered in daily life, such as your time and uncomfortable questions to answer. With the protections in place, this study would pose minimal risk to your wellbeing.

This study offers no direct benefits to individual volunteers. The aim of this study is to benefit society by providing insights to change management practitioners and scholars the significance of well-being together with the aim for productivity, when adapting an enterprise system. With the improvement of system users' well-being, this aspect will provide an impact to positive social change.

Privacy:

The researcher is required to protect your privacy. Your identity will be kept confidential within the limits of the law. The researcher will not use your personal information for any purposes outside of this research project. Also, the researcher will not include your name or anything else that could identify you in the study reports. If the researcher were to share this dataset with another researcher in the future, the researcher is required to remove all names and identifying details before sharing; this would not involve another round of obtaining informed consent. Data will be kept secure in a password protected database and any printed copies is kept in locked drawers with a key available only to the researcher. Data will be kept for a period of at least 5 years, as required by the university.

Contacts and Questions:

You can ask questions of the researcher by email or by telephone. If you want to talk privately about your rights as a participant or any negative parts of the study, you can call Walden University's Research Participant Advocate at +1-612-312-1210. Walden University's approval number for this study is 01-26-21-0741763 and it expires on January 25, 2022.

You might wish to print and retain this consent form for your records. You may ask the researcher or Walden University for a copy at any time using the contact info above.

Obtaining Your Consent

If you feel you understand the study and wish to volunteer, please indicate your consent by entering the space provided below:

Your name: _____

Date of consent:

 \Box I am interested to participate in the study as indicated in the announcement and in this consent

form.

Mode of Participation

 \Box Online survey portal, \Box Via Email, \Box Zoom, \Box Skype, \Box Google Meet, \Box Phone

□ Other with:______, username/number ______

Preferred Date: _____, Time: _____, Time Zone_____

Once you have started your participation and you want to stop or does not want to continue or you do not want your participation to be counted, you may email your intention.

After you fill the necessary boxes and lines above, please hit submit.

Appendix C: Data Gathering

Research Project: Enterprise Systems Nonusability: Productivity and Well-being Experiences of Canadian Automotive Dealerships Accountants

Participant Information

Name:	
Position/Job title:	, Start date:
Mobile Phone:, Email:	
Dealership Name:	
Dealership: City/Town:	_, Province:
Franchise / Brands:	

Questions

- 1. Let us begin with your background. Please describe how you started working at the automotive dealership, how you ended up working in the accounting department, and how many years you have been working in dealership accounting.
- 2. Are you using an enterprise system or a dealership management system (DMS) in your accounting work at the dealership? Who is the vendor or provider of your DMS?
- 3. Were you already in the dealership when the DMS was adapted? How do you like the DMS at the start? If you came to the dealership after the DMS is in place, do you like its functionality? Are you satisfied in using the software to deliver your tasks?
- 4. How often you experience failure or glitches with your DMS or something you need to do or produce that cannot be provided by your DMS, making the system non-usable, preventing you to execute your task at hand?
- 5. Can you please describe how the situations of nonusability of the system affects your productivity and stress level? If any, please describe its effect to your emotional and physical well-being, you may include the reason why.
- 6. Other comments. You may add other things that relates to the contribution of your DMS to your work or the description of your working condition in the dealership accounting department.

Appendix D: IRB Approval to use Email as Additional Data Gathering Procedure

Request for Change in Procedures - Approved			0	1 ~	+
IRB <irb@mail.waldenu.edu> Mon 01/03/2021 18:03 To: Manuel Felicio Cc: Michael Neubert</irb@mail.waldenu.edu>	4	5	«ک	÷	
Felicio Consent Form.pdf Saved to OneDrive					
Dear Mr. Felicio,					
This e-mail serves to inform you that your request for a change in procedu 2/14/21 has been approved. You may implement the requested changes ef The approval number and expiration date for this study will remain the same service of the service of	res, s fectiv ne.	ubmit e imr	tted o media	n tely.	
Also attached to this e-mail is the updated IRB approved consent form. Ple already in an on-line format, you will need to update that consent docume changes.	ase n nt to i	ote, i includ	f this i le any	is	
Both students and faculty are invited to provide feedback on this IRB expension below:	rience	e at tł	he link	¢	
http://www.surveymonkey.com/s.aspx?sm=qHBJzkJMUx43pZegKim	diQ_	3d_3	d		

Appendix E: Excerpt of the Initial IRB Approval

IRB Materials Approved - Manuel Felicio

IRB <irb@mail.waldenu.edu> Wed 27/01/2021 15:01 To: Manuel Felicio <manuel.felicio@waldenu.edu> Cc: IRB <irb@mail.waldenu.edu>; Michael Neubert <michael.neubert@mail.waldenu.edu>

1 attachments (76 KB) Felicio Consent Form.docx;

Dear Mr. Felicio,

This email is to notify you that the Institutional Review Board (IRB) has approved your application for the study entitled, "Productivity and Well-being of Canadian Dealerships Accountants When Enterprise System Is Nonusable."

Your approval # is 01-26-21-0741763. You will need to reference this number in your dissertation and in any future funding or publication submissions. Also attached to this e-mail is the IRB approved consent form. Please note, if this is already in an on-line format, you will need to update that consent document to include the IRB approval number and expiration date.

Your IRB approval expires on January 22, 2022 (or when your student status ends, whichever occurs first). One month before this expiration date, you will be sent a Continuing Review Form, which must be submitted if you wish to collect data beyond the approval expiration date.

Your IRB approval is contingent upon your adherence to the exact procedures described in the final version of the IRB application document that has been submitted as of this date. This includes maintaining your current status with the university. Your IRB approval is only valid while you are an actively enrolled student at Walden University. If you need to take a leave of absence or are otherwise unable to remain actively enrolled, your IRB approval is suspended. Absolutely NO participant recruitment or data collection may occur while a student is not actively enrolled.

If you need to make any changes to your research staff or procedures, you must obtain IRB approval by submitting the IRB Request for Change in Procedures Form. You will receive confirmation with a status update of the request within 10 business days of submitting the change request form and are not permitted to implement changes prior to receiving approval. Please note that Walden University does not accept responsibility or liability for research activities conducted without the IRB's approval, and the University will not accept or grant credit for student work that fails to comply with the policies and procedures related to ethical standards in research.